
 

 

CITY OF LOCKPORT 
COMMON COUNCIL PROCEEDINGS 

 
Lockport Municipal Building 

 
Regular Meeting 
Official Record  

 September 10th, 2025 
 6:00 P.M. 
 

Mayor John Lombardi III called the meeting to order. 
 

ROLL CALL 
 

The following Common Council members answered the roll call: 
 

Aldermen Fogle, Craig, Lupo, Mullane, Devine, Kirchberger 
 

INVOCATION  
 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 

RECESS 
Recess for public input. 
 
091025.1          APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
On motion of Alderman __________________________ seconded by Alderman 
_________________________the minutes of the Regular meeting of August 27th, 2025 are 
hereby approved as printed in the Journal of Proceedings.  Ayes ______. 
 

FROM THE MAYOR 
 

Appointments: 
  
 
FROM THE CITY CLERK 
 
The Clerk submitted payrolls, bills for services and expenses, and reported that the 
Department Heads submitted reports of labor performed in their departments. 
 
Reviewed by the Finance Committee. 
 
Communications (which have been referred to the appropriate City officials) 
 
Notice of Claim:  
9/4/2025 Mark Greco Jr vs City of Lockport and City of Lockport Police Officers 
(Referred to Corporation Counsel) 
 
MOTIONS & RESOLUTIONS 
  



 

 

 
091025.2 
By Alderman Craig: 
 

Resolved that the Mayor and City Clerk be authorized to issue orders in favor of the 
claimants for payrolls, bills and services to be paid on September 11th, 2025. 
 
 

Seconded by Alderman _______________________and adopted. Ayes ________. 
 
 

091025.3   
By Alderman__________________________________: 
     

Whereas the Common Council of the City of Lockport previously approved the request 
to hold the Locktoberfest on 9.27.2025 including certain designated road closures; and 

Whereas the event organizers have since requested an additional road closure of 
Ontario Street in order to accommodate a larger number vendors than originally planned; and 

Whereas the City of Lockport recognizes the importance of ensuring public safety and 
smooth traffic control during this community event; 

Now, therefore, be it resolved that the Mayor and Common Council of the City of 
Lockport hereby approve the additional closure of Ontario Street during the hours of 10am- 
5pm on September 27th , for Locktoberfest:  

Be it further resolved that the City of Lockport Police Department, Department of 
Public Works, and any other necessary departments are authorized to coordinate with event 
organizers to implement the closure and ensure proper traffic and safety measures are in 
place. 

  Seconded by Alderman _________________ and adopted. Ayes___. 
 

 
091025.4  
By Alderman_____________________: 
 

Whereas the City of Lockport (City) is seeking a grant for a Lead Service Line 
Replacement Project and intends to submit via the Environmental Facilities Corporation for 
funding to the New York Water Infrastructure Improvement Act (WIIA); and 

 
Whereas the City project cost estimate for the Lead Service Line Replacement Project is 

$19,880,625; and 
 
Whereas the WIIA through NYS Environmental Facilities Corporation (NYSEFC) is 

authorized to fund up to a maximum of $5,000,000 of the total project costs. 
 
Now, therefore, be it: 



 

 

Resolved that the City authorizes and appropriates a minimum of $14,880,625 local 
match as required by the Water Infrastructure Improvement Act (WIIA).  The maximum local 
share appropriated shall not exceed $14,880,625, subject to receipt of a WIIA grant and available 
funding.  The total estimated maximum grant is $5,000,000.  The Mayor may increase this local 
match through the use of in-kind services other eligible funding without further approval from the 
City.   
 
     Seconded by Alderman __________________________ and adopted. Ayes___. 
 

 
091025.5 
By Alderman_________________________ 

 
Whereas the City of Lockport (City) desires to replace lead water service lines and is 

seeking grant funding to support the project, which will require the preparation of detailed 
engineering plans and specifications; and 

 
Whereas Nussbaumer & Clarke, Inc. furnished a proposal to provide engineering design, 

bidding support, construction administration, inspection, and grant administration support as 
needed for the Project;  

 
Now, therefore, be it: 
Resolved that the Mayor is authorized to execute a professional services agreement with 

Nussbaumer & Clarke, Inc., for a fee not to exceed $2,593,125 for engineering design, bidding 
support, construction administration, inspection, and grant administration related to the WIIA 
Lead Service Line Replacement Project, contingent upon receipt of grant funding and in 
accordance with the City procurement process. 
 

Seconded by Alderman ___________________________ and adopted. Ayes___. 

091025.6 Being prepared. 
 

091025.7 ADJOURNMENT 
 
At _________pm Alderman Fogle moved the Common Council be adjourned until 6:00pm 
Wednesday, September 24th, 2025. 
  
 

Seconded by Alderman Devine and adopted. Ayes 6. 
 

EMILY STODDARD 
City Clerk 



City of Lockpoft I HEREBY CERTIFY that the persons named
have
and

Pay Day Register
Pay Date Range 08101/25 - 08114125

PaY Batch 0812U25

Female Employees ln Pay Bakh 59
Horrr< Des.riDtion Hours Gross

u.7A DEbiiW - 207A Disttlity 160.0000 t,82230

indbated fur the
PAID on

Withholdlnqs and Deductions

Gross
Imputed Income
Federal

FICA

Medicare
New York State
3olo - REr ERS TIER 6
3% - RET ERS TIER 6 OT
3% - RET PF TIER 6
3% . RET PF TIER 5 OT
3.5% - RET ERS TIER 6
3.S% - RET ERS TIER 6 OT

3.506 - RET PF TIER 6
3.5% - RFT PF TIER 6 OT

4.5% - REI ERS TIER 6
4.5olo - RET ERS TIER 6 OT
4.590 - RET PF TIER 6
4.5% - RET PF TIER 6 OT
457 % Dedudion
457 Flat Dollar Dedudlon
5.75% - RET ERS TIER 6

5.75% - RET PF TIER 6
5.75% - RET PF TIER 6 OT

5% - REI ERS TIER 6

6% - RET PF TIER 6
AFTAC POSTTAX

AFTAC PRETAX

ALLSTATE POSTIA(
AUSTATE PRETAX

Child Support - Amount
COLONIAL UFE POSTTA)(

COLONIAL UFE PRETA,\

Firefighter Ufe Ins
FSA PRFTA(

Healti Ins 298 Class 2 Family

Health Ins 298 Class 2 Single

Heal$ Ins 298 Class 3 Family

Health Ins 298 Class 3 Slngle

Health Ins 298 class 4 Family

Benefits Gro6s Base

iie
Gross Base

624,r70.32

CMPE 1.0 - Comp Eamed @ 1.0

CMPE 1.5 - Comp Earned @ 1,5

CMPU - Comp Time Used

EDAY - 6dra Day

FHDB - Floating Holiday BUY Out
FHDE - Floating Holiday Eamed

FHDI., - Floating Holiday Us€d

FLSA - FTSA

FMIS - FMLA sick LJsed

OOT - Out of fitle
ooT oT 1.5 - Out of-tide OT at
OOT SHIFT 10Vo - OOT Shift Diff
OT 1.0 - Overtime at Straight 1.0

oT 1.5 - Overtime @ 1.5

or 1.s sHtFT 10% - OT @ 1.5

OT 1.5 SHIFT 15olo - OT @ 1.5

PRSU - Personal Used

REG - Regular

REG PT - Regular Part Tirne
REG SHIFI 10% - Regular Shift

REG SHIFT 15% - Regular Shift
REGS - Regular Seasonal

RGS-Regular-Salary
SAL - Salary

SAL PT - Salary Part Time
SCK PT - Sick Leave Part lime
SCXE - Sick Eamed

SCXU - Sick Used

STIP - Stlpend

VACB - Vacatlon Buy otrt -
VACE - Vacation Eamed

VAOJ - Vacation Used

Total

1,743.0000 52,576.00

21,697.3835 
'624,170,32

92.6250
12,0000

149.2500
350.0000
40.0000

447.4400
464.0000

.0000

50,0000
761,0000

27.0000
8,0000

27.0000
1,072.5000

75.0000
16.0000

118.0000
11,196,2500

112.0000
152.0000
3s2,0000

1,186.5000
75.2500

.0000

.0000

10,5000

2,179,2500
619.s000

.0000
.10.0000

150,9185

.00

.00
4,ALg,67

12A60,69
L,'182.91

.00
16,t47.67

7AO.V
1,741.12

32,058.52

\ln34
219.65

783.09
54,893.s5

3468,79
665,44

4,260,47
354,96L,92

1564.88
4,926.43

!1,369.27
20,919.18

.00
3,806,51

1,865.37
251.76

.00
19,311.33

192.31

1,633.s8
.00

63,901.13
37,803,89

8,841,23

29,722.94
2,535,76

168.56

517./18

91.04
1,625.71

142,49

2,053.85
181.58

558.27
9,26

1,755.19

251.33
?,7M.8

L2,7OS,OO

214,72
3,4L3,46

792.23
250.26
216.63
311.64
395.68
516,18
568.42
990.00

95.21

32,88
170.65
708,87

5n,954,17
6@,740.80
609,7.10.80
589,331.71

84,524,15
5,619.04

L7,248.45

3,034.30
46,448,96

4,07t,05
58,680,61

5,188.23

12,405.95
205,67

39,003,89
s,585.20

113,786.45
.00

3,803.90

Total

Direct Deposib

50,498.09
50,806.99

6,728,53

Amount

Health Ins 298 G6s 2 Slngle

Health Ins 298 class 3 Famlly

Health Ins 298 Oass 3 Slngle
Health Ins 298 Oass 4 Famlly

Health Ins 298 Oass 4 Single

Total

Workers Compensation - sewer
Workers C.ompensauon - Water
Workers Comp€nsation 50or'0

L!,746,97
89,904,94

9,720,37

7,326.29

2,233.50

$155,008.s4

2,391.18
2,3ffi.t7

544,32

$29,374,71

.00

.00

.00

.00

.00

EmDlover Taxes Grocs Base

FrcA 37,803.89 609,740'80

I\4edlcare 8,841.23 609,740'80

Total $46,545.12

workers'comD Gross Base

sg,s64.507fr AE-rcesBank-
13,27.47 Banorp Bank

4,171.02 Bank of Akon
3,510.50 Eank of Amerlca

.OO BANK OF AMERICA (2)

.00 BANK OF AMERICA (4)

,00 BANK OF AMERICA (6)

.00 Bank on Buffalo

.00 CapltalOne 360
,00 Olase Bank
.00 Chase Bank (2)
.00 Chime

,00 Citizens Bank

,00 Come6tone Comm FCU

,00 Dlscover Bank
.00 Encompass Niagara FclJ

.OO ESL rcU

.00 Evans Bank

1,884.01

1,910.80

4,434.85
6,680,85

r,723,80
1,482.18

1,336.96

4,898.88

984.38
2,v7,71
1,886.15

350,00
14,330.39

134,303.01

800.00

195.00
1,248.16
2,985.40

1,233.13

2,787,26
822.38
814.05

w
J(
$
d0

Run by Ashl€y Bretherton on 8/18/2025 11:/+0:15 AM Page 148 of 149



City of Lockport I HEREBY CERTIFY that the persons nared
in this payroll are €mployed solely in and have
aclually perbrmed the dutie3 of positions and

Pay Day Register
Pay Date Range 08/15/25 - 08/28/25

Pay Batch 09104/25for the
PAID on

Female Employe€s ln Pay Batch 59

Hours Descrlptlon

207A Disabitfty: r0 Diability
BERV - Bereavement

CMPE 1.0 - Comp Earned @ 1,0

CMPE 1.5 - Comp Earned @ 1.5

CMPU - Comp Time Used

EDAY - Extra Day

FHDB - Floatlng Holiday Buy Out

FHDU - Floating Holiday Used

FLSA . FLSA

FMLE - FMLA Eftra Day

FMLS - FMLA Sick Used

FMLV - FMLA Vacation Used

OOT - Out of Title
OOT OT 1.5 - Out of Title OT at
OOT OT SHIFT 15% - OOT OT

OT 1.0 - Overtime at Straight 1.0

OT 1.5 - Overtlme @ 1.5

oT 1.5 SHrFT 10% - OT @ 1.5

oT 1.5 SHrFr 15% - OT @ 1.5

PRSU - Personal Used

REG - Regular

REG PT. R€uIaT PaftTime
REG SHIFT 10Vo - Regular Shift
REG SHIFT 15o/o - Regular shift
REGS - Regular Seasonal

RETRO - Retroactr've Pay

RGS - Regular - Salary

SAL - Salary

SAL PT - Salary Part'Iime
SCK PT - Slck Leave Part Time

SCI(D - Sick Bank Donated

SCKR - Sick Bank Recelved

SCKU - Sick Used

STIP - Stlpend

VACB - Vacatlon Buy Out -

VACU - vacation used

T&l

Hours Gross Wlthholdinqs and Deductlons Benefits Gross Base

Gross 607,987,5L
Imputed Income
Federal 62,653.64 563,136.83
FICA 36,806.25 593,647.26
lledicare 8,607.95 593,647,26
NewYorkstate 29,002.58 573,74L31
3% - RET ERS TIER 6 2,358.27 78,607.96

3% - RET ERS TIER 6 OT 292.87 9,761.98

3% - RET PF TrER 5 518.40 17,279,45

3% - RET PF TIER 6 0T 25.06 835.36

3.s06 - RET ERS TIER 6 7,6t2.79 46,079.82
3.506 - RET ERS nER 6 0T 158.05 4,515.60
3.5olo - RET PF TIER 6 2'054.96 58,712.30
3.5% - RET PF TIER 6 OT L41.4! 4,2t2.23
4.5% - RET ERS TIER 5 55A.27 12,405.98
4.5% - RET PF TIER 6 r,752.20 38,937,32
4.5% - RET PF TIER 6 OT 95.87 2,130.34
457 % Dedudion 7,200,95 108,522.34
457 Flat Dolhr Deduction 12,705.00 .00
5.75% - RET ERS TIER 6 2rA.72 3,803.91
5.75% - RET PF TrER 6 3,404.11 59,201.93
5.75% - RET PF TIER 6 OT 393.69 6,846.54
5% - RET ERS TIER 6 200,21 3,336.80
6% - RET PF TIER 6 216.53 3,610.50
AFTAC POSTTAX 311.64 .00
AFTAC PREIAX 395.68 ,OO

ALISTATE POSfiAX 516.18 .00
ALLSTATE PRETAX 568,42 .OO

Child Support - Amount 990.00 .00
COLONIAL UFE POSTTAX 95.21 .OO

COLONIAL UFE PRFTAX 32,88 .OO

FsA PRETAX zos.sz . $ .oo
Health Ins 298 Class 2 Family 2,859.48 I t\ .00
Health Ins 298 Class 2 Slngle 1,233.13 L \( .00
Health Ins 298 Clas6 3 Family 2,787.26 -. i .00
Health Ins 298 Class 3 Slngle eZZ.fa ( N .00
Health Ins 298 Class 4 Family 814.05 )fu .00
Heafth Ins 298 Class 4 Slngle Zqe.l,/ .00
NEWYORKUFE 162.43 .OO

160.0000
36.0000

402.2500
21.5000

343.0000
298.0000
80.0000

300.0000
.0000

8.0000
23.0000

21.0000
639.0000

1.0000
8.0000

23.0000

859.2s00
107.5000

15.0000

84.5000
11,588.7500

115.7500

124.0000

256.0000
683.7500

.0000
70.0000

.0000

.0000

17.5000
48_0000

48.0000
595.7s00

.0000

.0000
1.581.0000 54.42.04

18,559.5000 $607,987.51

Gross Base

1,822.30
1,889.26

.00

.00

12,650.08
70,752.83
3,297.28

10,665.75
239,45
227.26
662.54
624.06

26t142.O3
45.99

365.97
51s.29

41,369.31
4,963.s3

66s,44
2,707,58

370,001.84
s,650.02
3,920.33

&383.0s
11,812.83
7,497.OO

.00
3,806.51
1,865.37

419.60
.00

1,087.26
t9,112.72

192.31

150.67

Health Ins 298 Class 2 Single
Health Ins 298 Class 3 Family
Health Ins 298 Class 3 Single
Health Ins 298 Class 4 Family
Health Ins 298 Class 4 single
Total

Workers Compensation - Sewer
Workers Compensation - Water
Workers Compensation 50%
Total

Direct Deposits

Armed Forces Bank

Bancorp Bank

Bank of Akron
Bank of America

BANK OF AMERICA (2)
BANK OF AMERICT (4)
BANK OF AMERICA (5)
Bank on Buffalo
Capltal One 360
Chase Bank
Chase Bank (2)
Chlme

Cltlzens Bank

Cornerstone Crmm FCU

Discover Bank
Encompass Nlagara rcU
ESL rcU
Evans Bank

2,233.50

-$I5t62z:l6'

tt,746.97
88,718.85

9,720.37
7 F26.29

2,391.18
2,480.94

544.32

$29,003.64

.00

.00

.00

.00
,00

EmployerTaxes Gross Base

FICA 35,ffi6.26 593,U7.26
I4edicare 8,507.95 593,647.26
Total i45,4!4.21

Workers'Comp Gross Base

Workers Compensation - General 23.587,20 472,732,36
5r,725.74
52,323,06
6,496,4t

Amount
1,518.70
1,348.30
2,684.44
5,380.86
L,756.V
1,533.40
1,403.50
3,916.76
t,247.62
1,735.54
1,520.49

350.00
13,707.46

135,817.02
800.00
195.00

1,204.06
1,797,09

Run by Ashley Bretherton on 91212025 9t39t37 AM Page 147 of 148



vs.

STATE OFNEW YORK

SUPREME COIIRT: NIAGARA COLINTY

MARK GRECO Jr., NOTICE OF'CLAIM
Claimant,

CITY OF LOCKPORT aad

CITY OF LOCKPORT POLICE OFFICERS

Respondents.

TO: CITYOFLOCKPORTand

CITY OF LOCKPORT POLICE OFFICERS.

Respondents.

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE, that MARK GRECO Jr. hereby makes claim against the CITY
OF LOCKPORT and CITY OF LOCKPORT POLICE OFFICERS and in support of said claim,

states the following:

1. The post office address of the Claimant is 199 Park Avenue, Lockport, New York 14094.

2. Tlrre atlomey for the Claimant is MATTHEW ALBERT ESQ., and his post office address is

2166 Church Road, Darien Center, New York 14040.

3. The claim of MARK GRECO Jr. is for as follows:

a. Personal injuries, including without limitation, medical expenses for consequential

damages generally, including pain and suffering, as well as mental anguish.

b. Deprivation of civil rights as afforded the claimant under both the New York State

Constitution and the United States constitution, including Claimant,s riglrt to be



protected against unlarafirl searches and seizures in the form of excessive force as

well as being unlawfirlly detained and then maliciously prosecuted.

c. The torts of assauit and battery, as well as the intentional infliction of emotional

distress.

4. The claim arose in substance as follows: Claimant assists his father in managing a two-unit

rental property located at 246 Clinton Street in the City of Lockport. The previous tenant on

the mohth to month lease for t}e downstairs rmit was Noah Collins. Mr. Collins had recenfly

vacated the property and his lease had been terminated, due to ongoing hostility and

conflicts between Mr. Collins and the upstairs tenants.

5. Claimant's father provided Mr. Collins with thirty (30) days' written notice of termination in

or aror"rnd mid-April 2025, requiring him to vacate the premises by May 30, 2025. Mr.

Collins confirmed to Claimant's father that he would vacate the unit prior to that date and he

did so.

6. On Jrme 1,2025 at approxtmately 3:00PM, Claimant and his father went to the property on

Clinton Street to change the locks. Upon arrival, they discovered that multiple fespassers

remarined inside the downstairs rurit. These individuals were drinking alcohol, damaging the

premises, and making threats ofviolence against Claimant and his father.

7. Claimant contacted the Lockport Police Deparhnent. Two officers responded to the

property. Rather than removing the kespassers, the ofFrcers brokered an arrangement

allowing them until 5 p.m. to vacate the premises. The hespassers agreed to those terms.

8. When Claimant retrmed to the property at approxinntely 5:00PM (without his father), he

observed that an additional trespasser had anived. They continued damaging the propety

and making threats towards him including statements such as, "I'11 kil1 you." Claimant

remained in his truck and again called the police.

9. Four different officers responded. Claimant explained the ongoing situation to the offrcers.

10. Claimant was declared 100% disabled in Much2025 due to a work-related construction

injury. As a result, he has a neuro-stimulator device implanted in his lumbar spine, which is

2



controlled by an extemal handheld device that was located in his vehicle at the time ofthe

incident. Claimant also uses a cane, which was in his vehicle at the time.

1 1. The police Officers spoke with the trespassers, who refirsed to leave. In the presence ofthe

officers, the trespassers again made threats to the Claimant, inciuding a second statement of

"I'll kill you."

12. Cla:nant, frustrated by the ongoing tlreats and lack ofpolice interventioq exited his vehicle

to firther discuss the situation. He was in no way aggressive or in vioiation of any New

York State laws.

13. Immediately, the officers tackled Claimant. He was handcuffed, which prevented him from

accessing both the extemal conholler for his neuro-stimulator and his cane.

14. While detained, Claimant repeatedly requested paramedics, as the stimulator in his spine

had shifted during the takedowrL causing continuous electrical shocks. These shocks could

have been stopped with the controller in his truclq but the officers refixed to allow him

access- Instead, they ignored his pleas for assistance and mocked him once they had taken

him to his station.

1 5 . Claimant was transported to Lockport Memorial Hospital, where he received teatnent for

severe back pain. He later underwent follow-up treatrnent at University at Buffalo

Neurosurgery, as well as Excelsior Orthopaedic Urgent Care.

16. Officer Schuler of the City of Lockport Police Departrnent then charged Mr. Greco with the

violation level offense ofdisorderly conduct, in violation ofPenal Law (PL) $240.20 (1).

Such charge was meritless and ultimately dismissed by City of Lockport Judge Thomas

DiMillo on or about July 10, 2025.

17. Upon information and belief, the incident herein described and the resultant injuries and

damages sustained were caused as a result ofthe negligence, carelessness, reckless disregard

J



and/or intentional and unlawfirl conduct on the part ofthe agents, servants and/or employees

Ofthc CITY OF LOCKPORT ATTd CITY OF LOCKPORT POLICE OFFICERS.

18. Upon information and belief, as a result ofthe aforesaid incident Mark Greco Jr. sustained

severe bodily injuries and was painfirlly and seriously injured.

WHEREFORE, Claimant request that the CITY OF LOCKPORT and CITY OF

LOCKPORT POLICE OFFICERS honor and the claims of MARK GRECO Jr..

Darted: August 16,2025 MATTHEWA. ALBERT, ESQ.
Attomeys for Claimant
Office and P.O. Address
2166 Church Road
Darien Center, New York 14040
Phone: (716) 445-4119

4



vs.

VERTFICATION PAGE

STATE OFNEWYORK, 
SUPREME COURT:NIAGARA COI]NTY

MARC GRECO Jr., NOTICE OT'CLAIM
Claimant,

CITY OF LOCKPORTand
CIry OF LOCKPORTPOLICE OFFICERS

Respondents.

MARC GRECO Jr. being duly swom, deposes and says that he is the cLAIMANT in this
action; that he has read the annexed NOTICE oF CLAIM, dated August l6,2o2s,and know the

contents thereof; and that the same is true to the best of my own knowledge

/_A/-
MARC GRECO JT

Swom to before me this

2025.of

Kimbcrly A. Ralph
Notary Public - State of New York

No.:0lRA6-148219
Qualificd in Eric County .-, f/

My Commiulon Erplrcs on Scptember 19,20ld .



3

City of Lockport - Resolution Request Form

Asenda Descriptio", ClOSing OntariO Street dUring LOCktOberfeSt

presented By: LOCkpO ft M a i n Stf eet lo"" 
subnitted : B I 2 I 2O2S

Topic Area (Select Most Applicable Option):

Community Event

Budget Amendment
Contract Approval

Donation Acceptance

Grant Application / Award

Fund Utilization Request

Local Law Change

Community Development

Community Event

Engineering Process

Code and Planning

Other

Ptedse Vovide to Cle.* ot leost ggEElgLllqt piot to Council meeting. Othetwise rcqu5t witl go to Jdlowing tneet ng,

Summary of Resolution:

Lockport Main Street is hosting Locktoberfest on Saturday, September 27th from 1Oam to
5pm located on Canal Street which includes closing down the pocket parking lot of Canal
Street. Lockport Main Street is requesting to also close down Ontario Street in order to
extend the boundaries of Locktoberfest to host more vendors along with a large Family Fun
Zone. Lockport Main Street is requesting to close Ontario Street down beginning at 7am on
September 27th, 6 additional barricades, and to have "No Parking" signs posted on Friday,
September 26th.

Explanation of Attachments:

Please ihclude atSadop.tff€spondenc€, purahase ordel quoles, meeting minut€s, emails, et i,; Itrny of ihislntormatlon ls codideotial aid cannol
in thisflEld:

,Votes.'

Name:
lo"t" 

of ann.ou"t



5

September 5, 2025

Hon. John Lombardi, lll,
M ayor
City of Lockport
One Locks Plaza
Lockport, NY 14094

ffi
Re: Professional Services Proposal

Lead Water Service Line Replacement Program Engineering Services
File No. 25Pl-Ol4l

Dear Mayor Lombardi:

Nussbaumer & Clarke, lnc. (Nussbaumer) is pleased to submit this proposal to assist the
City of Lockport (City) with engineering services related to lead water service line
replacements in accordance with the Engineering Report prepared by Nussbaumer
dated June 2024.

It is our understanding that the City is seeking a Water lnfrastructure lmprovement Act
(WllA) grant for the project.

Based upon our discussions and understanding of the project, Nussbaumer, with the
support of sub-consultants proposes the following Scope of Service for this project.

SCOPE OF SERVICES

l. Project lnitiation

Meet with City officials as required.
Provide Lead Service Line Replacement regulatorv compliance guidance.
Review of record drawings provided by City.
Perform topographic survey of the project area within the City's right,of-way
limits as required. Survey, if required, will obtain information regarding existing
structures (i.e., roadways, catch basins, manholes, buildings, etc.), and utilities (i.e.,
aboveground and underground). Develop base maps of the survey and utilities as
required for the design.
Provide support as required with applicable funding agencies.

2. Preoaration of Desiqn Drawinqs and Specifications

Prepare plans as needed, speciflcations, and contract documents in conformance
with Citystandards, for review bythe City and applicable reviewffunding agencies;
and upon approval, finalize the documents.

BO Main Street I Unit A I Lockport, NY 14094 | 1:716.A27.AOOO I f:716.A26.795A
nussclarke.com



Hon. John Lombardi lll
City of Lockport
September 5, 2025 'ffi

Meet with the City, review the 600/q9Oo/o, and final designs; and involved agencies
as required.
Prepare a detailed engineer's cost estimate.

3. Bid Phase Services

Nussbaumer will prepare the bid documents to include in the front end of the
proposal book, an itemized proposal, and technical specifications for bidding.
Nussbaumer will include the NYSEFC "Mandatory State Revolving Fund Terms
and Conditions" in the bid documents as required.
Plans and proposal book will be available for sale to contractors via Avalon
Document Services, or similar.
Assist the City with the bidding process by attending the pre,bid conference,
addressing any questions that contractors may have, and issuing addenda, if
necessa ry.
Attend the bid opening, review the bids received, and provide the bid results.

4. Construction Administration

. Nussbaumer will conduct a pre-construction meeting including the City and the
Contractor and provide meeting minutes.

. Review and advise Contractor submittals and pay requests.

. Conduct monthly progress meetings during construction.

. Periodic site visits by Construction Manager during construction to ensure that
construction is being completed safely, and in accordance with the plans,
specifications, a nd contract documents.

5. Construction Observation

Nussbaumer will provide full-time construction observation while the
construction is in progress (assumed 1,440 hours).

6. Closeout and Record Drawinqs

r Nussbaumer will provide as-built record drawings upon project completion.

The standard of care for the professional services performed or furnished by N ussbaumer
under this Agreement will be the care and skill ordinarily used by members of the
surveying, architecture, and/or engineering profession(s) practicing under similar
circumstances at the same time and in the same locality. Nussbaumer makes no
warranties, express or implied, under this Agreement or otherwise, in connection with
any services performed or furnished by our company.

Should applicable federal, state, or local laws, codes, rules, regulations and/or standards
change during the course of this project, Nussbaumer reserves the right to renegotiate
the stated fee.

tt20251141 Lockpaft (C) - LSLB\oL. Ptoposal\Pine ProposallLackpott LsLR.docx Page 2



Hon. John Lombardi. lll
City of Lockport
September 5, 2025 'ffi
COMPENSATION AND PAYMENT

Nussbaumer's fee for the Scope of Services described herein is Not-to-Exceed
$2,s93,r2s.oo.

Costs shall be billed monthly based upon the project percent complete, as determined
by Nussbaumer. Amounts billed are due and payable within thirty (30) days of the date
of the invoice. Refer to Schedule A for standard terms and conditions in Attachment A-

As required by the NYSEFC, Nussbaumer will comply with "Mandatory State Revolving
Fund Terms and Conditions," in which are attached as part of our proposal in
Attach ment B.

Nussbaumer appreciates the opportunity to submit this proposal and looks forward to
working with you on this project. We are available at your convenience should you desire
to discuss any aspect of this proposal. Upon acceptance of our proposal, please sign
where indicated below and return to our office. The original is foryour file. This will then
serve as our Agreement and Notice to Proceed.

Sincerely,

l\r=="oylrro & cLABXE, tNC.

#{",,wk
Chief Executive Officer

MTM/m
Attachments - A: Schedule A w/ 2C.25 Hourly Rate Table

B: NYSEFC "Mandatory State Financial Assistance Terms and Conditions"
c: File-ol (Watt.)

Accepted by: Clry OF LOCKPORT

Signature: Title:

Printed Name: _ Date:

t:12025\141 Lo.kpan (C) - LSLB\o|. Proposal\Plme PtaposallLockpan LsLq.docx Page 3



SCHEDULE "A'

By accepting th is proposal, the Client ("Client") agrees to the following terms and cond itions incorporated into the
resulting agreement ("Agreement") between the Client and Nussbaumer & Clarke, lnc. ("Nussbaumer") for the work
covered in the proposal ("Work").

BASIS OF SERVICES
lf required, the Client shall arrange or establish Nussbaumer's right to enter the property. lf the Client does not own the
site, Nussbaumer shall require reasonable verification that permission to enter the site has been granted.

Quantities and cost estimates are subject to change due to, but not limited to, actual field conditions encountered,
additions or changes to the Work, and changes in conditions on which estimates were based. The Client acknowledges and
agrees that Nussbaumer was entitled to and did in fact rely on the information provided by the Client in performing
estimates concerning the Work as embodied in this proposal.

DELIVERABLES
Electronic files, drawings, calculations, records, and all other work products generated in connection with the Work are the
property of Nussbaumer and may not be used without written permission. Drawings may be filed with the County or
Municipality if the drawings were produced for that purpose. Electronic files andlor reproducible documents will be
furnished at cost for preparing same and will be noted as a copy. Except for original submittals, any plans ordered or used
in connection with the Work will be billed at cost.

FEES AND DffRA WORK
All fees quoted are for the Work as outlined. Any work not ordered will not be billed. Any work not included in the
Agreement or any additional items which may be necessary to comply with applicable laws, codes, rules, regulations, or
standards made effective after this proposal will be charged as extras on a time and expense basis or at a mutually agreed
upon fixed fee. No extra work wall be performed by Nussbaumer unless written approval is received from the Client, and a
fee is negotiated.

It is understood that the fees quoted herein for the Work are subject to change upon written notice to the Client should
unforeseen complications and/or problems develop during the Work. Any revisions to the Work caused by Client,
lVunicipality, County, Governmental, or Governing Agencies, jurisdictional authorities, permitt'ng agencies, approval
agencies, funding agencies, utility companies, other stakeholders, and involved parties; to the extent they increase
Nussbaumer's costs of performance under the Agreement, shall be billed in accordance with the attached hourly billing
rates, included after Schedule A.

INVOICING AND PAYMENT
Nussbaumer shall render invoices to Client monthly as set forth in this proposal. Client shall promptly review invoices and
notify Nussbaumer of any objection thereof; absent such objection in writing within fifteen (15) days of the date of the
invoice, the invoice shall be deemed proper and acceptable. lnvoices shall be due and payable in full by the Client to
Nussbaumer within 30 days of billing. lf payment is not received within 60 da)6 of billing, Client shall be considered in
breach of contract and Nussbaumer reserves the right to stop Work under this Agreement, or work under any other
agreement with the Client, until such time that all Work is paid in full, including interest at 1.5% per month commencing at
the 60h day from billing. lf applicable, all outstanding unpaid invoices must be paid in full prior to filing of the Map Cover
with the county Clerk's office.

No documents will be released unless all fees have been paid for Work completed. The Client agrees that Nussbaumer will
not be responsible for providing copies of records generated for this project in case of loss of records by fire, theft, or other
causes. Copies of the finished product will be furnished upon payment of the cost of reproductions.

It is also agreed and understood that if Nussbaumer finds it necessary to take legal action for collection of any outstanding
amounts due under this Agreement, the Client herein agrees to pay all costs of litigation, including legal fees, court costs,
filing andlor recording fees as well as costs involving time spent in preparation for litigation andlor Iegal proceedings.
Should legal proceedings be initiated, it is understood that all proceedings would take place in Erie County, New York. This
Agreement, the Work, and any disputes relating to either the Agreement or the Work shall be governed by the laws of the
State of New York, without regard to conflicts of law rules.

Schedule A - Revised f or 2O24 llPage



STANDARD OF CARE
The standard of care for all professional services performed or furnished by Nussbaumer under this Agreement will be the
care and skill ordinarily used by members of the surveying and/or engineering profession(s) practicing under similar
circumstances at the same time and in the same locality" Nussbaumer makes no warranties, express or implied, under this
Agreement or otherwise, in connection with any services performed or furnished by the company.

Any opinions of probable project cost or probable construction cost provided by Nussbaumer are made based on
information available to Nussbaumer and Nussbaumer's experience and qualifications; represents its judgment as an
experienced and qualified professional engineer. However, since Nussbaumer has no control over the cost of labor,
materials, equipment, services furnished by others, contractors methods of determining prices, competitive bidding, or
market conditions. Nussbaumer does not guarantee that proposals, bids, actual project, or construction cost will not vary
from opinions of probable cost Nussbaumer prepares.

Construction cost does not include Nussbaumer's compensation or expenses, the cost of land, rights of way, or
compensation for properties. Construction cost also does not include Clients legal, accounting, or insurance services; or
interest and financing charges incurred in connection with construction, or the cost of services provided by others.

INDEMNIFICATION
To the fullest extent permitted by law, and notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the total liability, in the
aggregate, of Nussbaumer and its officers, directors, members, partners, agents, employees, and consultants, to Client
and/or owner and anyone claiming by, though, or under Client and/or owner for any and all claims, losses, costs, or
damages whatsoever arising out of, resulting from, or in any way related to the Work from any cause or causes, including
but not limited to the negligence, professional errors or omissions, strict liability, breach of contract, indemnity obligations,
or warranty express or implied of Nussbaumer or its officers, directors, members, partners, agents, employees, or
consultants shall not exceed the total compensation received by Nussbaumer for the Work. Nussbaumer shall not be liable
to the Client under any circumstances for indirect, special, incidental, or consequential damages, nor shall Nussbaumer be
liable to the Client for lost revenue or profits of any nature or character.

To the fullest eKent permitted by law, the Client agrees to indemnify and hold Nussbaumer, along with its current and
future owners, officers, directors, members, shareholders, parent corporations, subsidiaries, related entities, affiliates,
agents, and employees (collectively "lndemnitees") harmless from, against and for all claims by third parties ("Third-Party
Claims"), which are caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of the Client or its employees, agents, consultants, or
anyone acting by, though, on behalf of, or under the Client. Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything else in the
Agreement, the Client's indemnification obligatlons do not apply to any lndemnitee for any portion of any Third-Party Claims
caused by the negligence of such lndemnitee.

CLAIMS AND DISPUTES
All claims or disputes of any kind arising out of the relationship between Client and Nussbaumer shall be submitted to
mediation prior to filing suit. All mediation shall be conducted under the Commercial Rules of the American Arbitration
Association, with the mediation costs equaliy borne between the two parties. The language to be used in mediation shall be
English. Any action filed between the parties shall be filed in the state or federal courts in and for Erie County, New York.
The prevailing party shall be entitled to recover its costs, including reasonable attorneys' fees. lf any part of this Agreement
is found to conflict with applicable laws, such part shall be null and void, but the remainder of this Agreement shall be in full
force and effect.

TERMINATION
The parties agree and acknowledge that there are no verbal representations, promises, understandings or agreements
concerning or relating to the Work other than as contained in the Agreement. All previous negotiations and agreements
between the parties concerning or relating to the Work are merged into the Agreement. l\4odifications of the Agreement
must be in writing, except to the extent that the invoice may include, and Client shall be obligated to pay, fees or expenses
that were orally authorized to proceed promptly with the Work.

This Agreement, unless previously terminated by written notice, shall be terminated by completion of the Work. Termination
before completion shall be accompanied by payment for Work completed to that date at per diem rates set forth in the
attached hourly billing rates.

PROPOSAL PERIOD
This proposal shall be valid for a period of 30 days, after which Nussbaumer shall have the right to revise a ny portion
thereof. ltisalso understood that fees quoted herein shall be subject to a 10% increase forthose phases of Work notyet
completed after a period of one year from date of authorization to proceed.

Schedule A - Revised f ot 2O24 2lPage



-ffi CORPORATE OFFICE
3556 Lake Shore Road
Suite 5OO
Buffalo, NY 14219-1494
Phone; (fl61 a27-8OOO

BRANCH OFFICES
Lockport

North Tonawahda
East Aurora

Canton

2025 HOURLY RATE SCHEDULE

Job Title
Principal Engineer / Principal Surveyor

Hourly Flate- - 
$rsioo

Sr. Associate
"-'"" 

$rosnb
Associate
Project Manager

$r7s.oo
$t60.oo
$iisooSr. Project Engineer

Project Engineer / Project $r4o.oo
Engineer 2 $n9.oo
Engineer I

Sr. CADD Designer
$r03.oo
$r;t.oo

CADD Designer $r22.oo
CADD Technician
lngine;ri;s reih'nlcian

$toB.oo

$93.oo
GIS $93.OO

Specialist $r4.oo
Renewable Energy Manager $r7o.oo
Water Distribution Specialist 2 $ro3.oo
Water Distribution Specialist I $7s.oo
Project Surveyor $142.OO
Survey Technician 3 $r4.oo
Survey Technician 2

Survey Technician I
$98.OO

$st.oo
I Person Su rvey Crew

I Person surveycf.* IP|?-ugllilg wgs"l
2 Person Survey crew
2 Person Survey Crew (Prevailing Wage)
Construction Services Ny'a nager
Construction Ad m inistrator
Transportation Manager

#oi.oo
" 

$id+.iio' '$i6s.oti

$r40.oo
d-1.^
-p '-- oo

$t7o.oo
$ili.oo

$r2o.ooConstruction Observer 2

Construction Observer'l 03.oo
Crant Writer $e3.oo
Administrat;ve Assistant
i6;iimo;t7ao;ii'AiienOince lioove"raie ror:on ctassiticar.ion - 4 Hour Minimum Charge) $4,64O.Ob

Fixed Costs

M ileage Current Federal Rate
Expenses Printing Cost
Subconsu lta nt or Third Party Expense

$83.oo

Rotes ore subject to increose Jonuory lst of eoch colendor yeor.
Cost plus lOolo



-4;y- lrnvironmentaltlftt 
I 
Facilities Corporation

KATHY HOCHUL
Governor

MAUREEN A. COLEMAN
President and CEO

Mandatory State Financial
Assistance Terms and Gonditions
For Contracts Funded with New York State Financial Assistance Only

Recipient to ldentify Contract Type

n Construction

n Non-Construction

Effective October 1, 2023

New York State Environmental Facilities Corporation
625 Broadway, Albany, NY 12207-2997

Pt (s'tB) 402-6924
www.efc.nv.oov

Mandatory SFA Terms and Conditions for Contracts Funded with NYS Financial Assistance Only
Page 1 of 10 Revision Date: 1 1n023



Mandatory SFA Terms and Conditions for Contracts Funded with NYS Financial Assistance Only
Page 2 of 10 Revision Date: 11/1/2023



Contents

REQUIRED CONTRACT 1ANGUAGE................... ..........................4
SECTION 1 REQUIREMENTSAND PROCEDURES FOR BUSINESS

PARTICIPATION OPPORTUNITIES FOR NEWYORK STATE CERTIFIED
MINORITY- AND WOMEN-OWNED BUSINESS ENTERPRISES AND EQUAL
EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES FOR WOMEN AND MINORITY GROUP
MEMBERS........... ........................................ 5

l. General Provisions............. ..................................... 5
ll. Equal Employment Opportunities (EEO) ................5
lll. Business Participation Opportunities for MWBEs.............. ...................6

A. Contract Goals..... ......................................6
B. MWBE Utilization PIan ...................... ....................................... 7
C. Request for Waiver ............................ ...................................... 7

Monthly
Report')

MWBE Contractor Compliance Report ("Monthly M\ tBE-SDVOBD

Mandatoty SFA Terms and Conditions for Contracts Funded with NYS Financial Assistance Only
Page 3 of 10 Revision Date: 11/1/2023



INTRODUCTION

The terms and conditions below must be incorporated verbatim into contracts receiving State financial
assistance without SRF financing. Additional information relating to each ofthe requirements is included
in the companion guidance document.

REQUIRED GONTRACT LANGUAGE

COMMONLY USED TERMS

The following commonly used terms are defined herein as follows:

Broker means a firm that does not itself perform, manage or supervise the work of its contract or
subcontract in a manner consistent with the normal business practices for contractors or subcontractors in
its line of business.

Construction means the process by which a contractor or subcontractor builds, alters, repairs, remodels,
improves or demolishes infrastructure.

Contract means an agreement between a Recipient and a Contractor.

Contractor means all bidders, prime contractors, non-construction service providers, and consultants as
hereinafter defined, unless specifically referred to otherwise.

Manufacturer means a firm that operates or maintains a factory or establishment that produces, on the
premises, the materials, supplies, articles, or equipment required under the Contract and of the general
character described by the specifications.

MBO is designated and employed by the Recipient as a Minority Business or Compliance Officer
responsible for MWBE/DBE/SDVOB/EEO reporting and compliance.

Non-Construction Provider means any individual or business enterprise that provides one or more ofthe
following: legal, engineering, financial advisory, technical, or other professional services, supplies,
commodities, equipment, materlals, or travel.

Recipient means the party, other than EFC, to a grant agreement or a project finance agreement with EFC
through which funds for the payment of amounts due thereunder are being paid in whole or in part.
Responsible through Project Finance Agreement (PFA) to comply with EFC requirements.

State means the State of New York.

Subcontract means an agreement between a Contractor and a Subcontractor.

Subcontractor means any lndividual or business enterprise that has an agreement, purchase order, or any
other contractual anangement with a Contractor.

Supplier means a firm that owns, operates, or maintains a store, warehouse, or other establishment in which
the materials, supplies, articles or equipment of the general character described by the specilications and
required under the contract are bought, kept in stock, and regularly sold or leased to the public in the usual
course of business.

Mandatory SFA Terms and Conditions for Contracts Funded with NYS Financial Assistance Only
Page 4 of 10 Revision Date: 11/1/2023



sEcTtoN 1 REQUIREMENTS AND PROCEDURES FOR BUSINESS
PARTICIPATION OPPORTUNITIES FOR NEW YORK STATE
CERTIFIED MINORITY- AND WOMEN-OWNED BUSINESS
ENTERPRISES AND EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES FOR
WOMEN AND MINORITY GROUP MEMBERS

The Minoity- and Women- Owned Business Enteryises ("Ml BE') pafticipation requirements of this
sectbn apply to the Contracts Meeting Afticle 15-A Thresholds.

Contracts Meeting Afticle 15-A Thresholds means Contracfs or Subcontracts meeting the
thresholds under New York State Executive Law Article 1+A as follows:

a) Non-Construction Contracts greater than $25,000:
b) Non-Construction Contracts that are initia y under $25,000 but subsequent change

orders or contract amendments increase the Contract value to above 925,000;
c) Construction Contracts greater than $100,000; and,
d) Construction Contracts that are initia y under $100,000 but subsequent change orders or

contract amendmenb increase the Contract value to above $100,000.

Disregard this section if it does not apply to this Contract or Subcontract.

l. General Provisions

Contractors and Subcontractors are required to comply with New York State Executive Law
Article 15-A and 5 NYCRR Parts 140-145 ('M\ iBE Regulations") for all State contracts
meeting Article 15-A thresholds.

Upon request from the Recipient and/or EFC, Contractor will provide complete responses
to inquiries and all MWBE and EEO records available within a reasonable time or as
otherwise determined by EFC.

C. Failure to comply with all of the requirements herein may result in a finding by the Recipient
that the Contractor is non-responsive, non-responsible, and/or has breached the Contract,
leading to the withholding of funds or such other actions, liquidated damages pursuant to
subsection lll(F) ofthis section, or enforcement proceedings as allowed by the Contract.

D. lf any terms or provisions herein conflict with Executive Law Article 15-A or the MWBE
Regulations, such law and regulations shall supersede these requirements.

ll. Equal Employment Opportunities (EEO)

The EEO pafticipation requirements of this section apply to sevices and Commodities greater than
$25,000 and construction contracts greaterthan $100,000.

A. Each Contractor and Subcontractor performing work on the Contract shall undertake or
continue existing EEO programs to ensure that minority group members and women are
afforded equal employment opportunities without discrimination because of race, creed,
color, national origin, sex, age, disability or marital status. For these purposes, EEO shall
apply in the areas of recruitment, employment, job assignment, promotion, upgrading,
demotion, transfer, layoff, or termination and rates of pay or other forms of compensation.

B. Contractor represents that it has submitted an EEO policy statement, included as
Attachment 1 , to Recipient prior to the execution of this Contract including the following
Ianguage:

Mandatory SFA Terms and Conditions for Contracts Funded with NYS Financial Assistance Onty
Page sof 10 Revision Date:11/1/2023

B.



The contractor will not discriminate on the basis of race, creed, color, national origin,
sex, age, disability, or marital status against any employee or applicant for
employment, will undertake or continue existing programs of affirmative action to
ensure that minority group members and women are afforded equal employment
opportunities without discrimination and will make and document its conscientious
and active efforts to employ and utilize minority group members and women in its
work force on Contracts relating to State financial assistance projects.

The Contractor shall state in all solicitations or advertisements for employees that, in
the performance of the Contract relating to this State financial assistance project, all
qualified applicants will be afforded equal employment opportunities without
discrimination because of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, age, disability or
marital status.

3. The Contractor shall request each employment agency, labor union, or authorized
representative of workers with which it has a collective bargaining or other agreemenl
or understanding, to furnish a written statement that such employment agency, labor
union, or representative will not discriminate on the basis of race, creed, color,
national origin, sex, age, disability or marital status, and that such union or
representative will affirmatively cooperate in the implementation of the Contractor's
obligations herein.

C. The Contractor will include the provisions of Subdivisions ll(A), ll(B), and ll(D) in every
Subcontract in such a manner that the requirements of these subdivisions will be binding
upon each Subcontractor as to work in connection with the Contract.

D. The Contractor shall comply with the provisions of the Human Rights Law (Executive Law
Article 15), and all other State and Federal statutory and constitutional non-discrimination
provisions. The Contractor and Subcontractors shall not discriminate against any
employee or applicant for employment because of race, creed (religion), color, sex, national
origin, sexual orientation, military status, age, disability, predisposing genetic characteristic,
marital status or domestic violence victim status, and shall also follow the requirements of
the Human Rights Law with regard to non-discrimination on the basis of prior criminal
conviction and prior arrest.

lll. Business Participation Opportunities for MWBES
Applicable to Contracts Meeting Afticle 15-A Thresholds

A. Contract Goals

1. New York State certified MWBE participation goals for this contract are 3096.
For NYS Water lnfrastructure lmprovement Act Grants and NYS lntermunicipal
Grants that are not receiving EFC financing, the goals may be achieved through any
combination of MBE and/or WBE participation.

2. For purposes of providing meaningful participation by MWBES on the Contract and
achieving the MWBE Contract Goals established in Section lll-A hereol the
Contractor should reference the directory of New York State Certified MWBES found
at https://nv. newnvcontracts. com.

3. The Contractor understands that only sums paid to MWBES for the performance of a
commercially useful function, as that term is defined in 5 NYCRR S 140.1, may be
applied towards achievement of applicable M\ /BE participation goals.

a. For construction and construction-related services Contracts or Subcontracts, the
portion of the Contract or Subcontract with an MWBE serving as a Supplier, and
so designated in ESD'S Directory, that shall be deemed to represent the
commercially useful function performed by the MWBE shall be 60% of the total
value of the Contract or Subcontract. The portion of a Contract or Subcontract
with an MWBE serving as a Broker, as denoted by NAICS code 425120, that shall

Mandatory SFA Terms and Conditions for Contracts Funded with NYS Financial Assistance Only
Page 6 of 10 Revision Date: 11/1/2023



4.

be deemed to represent the commercially useful function performed by the MWBE
shall be the monetary value for fees, or the markup percentage, charged by the
MWBE

b. For non-construction Contracts or Subcontracts, the portion of a Contract or
Subcontract with an MWBE serving as a Broker that shall be deemed to represent
the commercially useful function performed by the MWBE shall be 25% of the total
value of the contract

Where M\ /BE Contract Goals have been established herein, pursuant to 5 NYCRR S
142.8, the Contractor must document'good faith efforts" to provide meaningful
participation by MWBES as Subcontractors or Suppliers in the performance of the
Contract.

5. ln accordance with Section 316-a of Article 15-A and 5 NYCRR S 142.'13,the
Contractor acknowledges that if it is found to have willfully and intentionally failed to
comply with the MWBE participation goals set forth in the Contract, such a finding
constitutes a breach of Contract and the Contractor shall be liable to the Recipient for
liquidated or other appropriate damages, as set forth herein.

MWBE Utilization Plan

The Contractor represents and warrants that Contractor has submitted a completed
copy of the MWBE Utilization Plan with all required bid forms to the MBO no later
than the execution date of this Contract. A sample utilization plan is included as
Attachment 2.

The Contractor agrees to use such M\ /BE Utilization Plan for the performance of
MWBES on the Contract pursuant to the prescribed MWBE goals set forth in Section
lll-A of this section.

The Contractor further agrees that a failure to submit and/or use such MWBE
Utilization Plan shall constitute a material breach of the terms of the Contract. Upon
the occurrence of such a material breach, the Recipient shall be entitled to any
remedy provided herein, including but not limited to, a finding that the Contractor is
not responsive.

The Contractor must report any changes to the Utilization Plan after Contract award
and during the term of the Contract to the MBO. The Contractor shall indicate the
changes to the MBO in the Monthly MWBE-SDVOB Contractor Compliance Report
immediately following the change. At EFC's discretion, an updated MWBE Utilization
Plan form and good faith effort documentation may be required to be submitted.
Vvhen a Utilization Plan is revised due to execution of a change order, the change
order should be submitted to the MBO with the Monthly M\ /BE-SDVOB Contractor
Compliance Report or revised Utilization Plan.

The Contractor shall submit copies of all fully executed Subcontracts, agreements,
and purchase orders that are referred to in the MWBE Utilization Plan to the MBO
within 30 days of their execution.

c. Request for Waiver

1. lf the Contractor, after making good faith efforts, is unable to comply with MWBE
goals, the Contractor may submit a Request for Waiver to the MBO documenting
good faith efforts by the Contractor to meet such goals. If the documentation
included with the waiver request aligns with the documentation identified on the
Request for Waiver form, the MBO shall forward the request to EFC for evaluation,
and EFC will issue a written notice of acceptance or denial within twenty (20) days of
receipt.

Mandatory SFA Terms and Conditions fot Contracts Funded with NYS Financial Assistance Only
Page 7 of 10 Revision Date: 11/1n023

B.

2.

3.

4.



D.

2. lf the MBO, upon review of the M\ iBE Utilization Plan and updated Quarterly MWBE
Contractor Compliance Reports determines that the Contractor is failing or refusing to
comply with the MWBE Contract Goals and no waiver has been issued in regards to
such non-compliance, the Recipient may issue a notice of deficiency to the
Contractor. The Contractor must respond to the notice of deficiency within seven (7)
business days of receipt. Such response may include a request for partial or total
waiver of Mn/BE Contract Goals.

Monthly MWBE Contractor Compliance Report ("Monthly M\ /BE-SDVOB Report")

1 . The Contractor agrees to submit a report to the MBO by the third business day following
the end of each month over the term of this Contract documenting the payments made
and the progress towards achievement of the M\NBE goals of the Contract. The Monthly
M\A/BE-SDVOB Report must be supplemented with proof of payment by the Contractor to
its Subcontractors (e.9., copies of both sides of a cancelled check) and proof that
Subcontractors have been paid within 30 days of receipt of payment from the Recipient.
The final Monthly M\/vBE-SDVOB Report must reflect all Utilization Plan revisions and
change orders.

Liquidated Damages - MVyBE Participation

1. ln accordance with Section 316-a of Article 15-A and 5 NYCRR 5142.13, if it has been
determined by the Recipient or EFC that the Contractor has willfully and intentionally failed
to comply with the M\ /BE participation goals, the Contractor shall be obligated to pay to
Recipient liquidated damages or other appropriate damages, as specified herein and as
delermined by the Recipient or EFC.

E.

2. Liquidated damages shall be calculated as an amount not to exceed the difference
between:

a. All sums identified for payment to MWBES had the Contractor achieved the approved
Mn/BE participation goals: and.

b. AII sums actually paid to MWBES for work performed or materials supplied under this
Contract.

3. The Recipient and EFC reserve the right to impose a lesser amount of liquidated damages
than the amount calculated above based on the circumslances sunounding the
Contractor's non-compliance.

4. ln the event a determination has been made by the Recipient or EFC which requires the
payment of damages identified herein and such identified sums have not been withheld,
Contractor shall pay such damages to the Recipient within sixty (60) days after they are
assessed unless prior to the expiratlon of such sixtieth day the Contracior has filed a
complaint with the Empire State Development Corporation - Division of Minority and
Women's Business Development ("ESD") pursuant to Subdivision I of Section 313 ofthe
Executive Law in which event the damages shall be payable ifthe Director of ESD renders
a decision in favor of the Recipient.

Mandatory SFA Terms and Conditions for Contracts Funded with NYS Financial Assistance Only
Page gof 10 Revision Date: 11/1n023



A.

SECTION 2 PARTICIPATION OPPORTUNITIES FOR NEW YORK STATE
CERTIFIED SERVICE-DISABLED VETERAN-OWNED BUSINESSES

The Service-Disabled Veteran-Qwned Busnesses ("SDVOB") pafticipation requirements of th,s secllon
apply to the Contracts Meeting Afticle 3 Thresholds.

Contracts Meeting Article 3 Thresholds means Contncts or Subcontracts meeting the
thresholds under New Yo* State Veterans' Sevices Law, Nticle 3 as follows:

a) Non-Construction Provider Contracts greater than $25,000;
b) Non-Construction Provider Contracts, that are initially under $25,000 but subsequent

change orders or contract amendments increase the Contract value to above $25,000;
c) Construction Contracts greater than $100,000; and,
d) Construction Contmcts that are initially under $100,000 but subsequent change orders or

contract amendments increase the Contract value to above $100,000.

Disregard this section if it does not apply to this Contract or Subcontract.

l. General Provisions

Contractors and Subcontractors are required to comply with New York State Veterans' Services
Law, Article 3, and I NYCRR Paft252, andlot any other related regulations promulgated thereto
for all State contracls meeting Article 3 thresholds.

ll. Contract Goals

A. New York State certified SDVOB participation goals for this contract are 6'/5. Fot
purposes of providing meaningful participation by SDVOBs, the Contractor should reference
the directory of New York State Certified SDVOBS found at:
https ://online.oqs. nv.qov/SDVO B/search.

B. Pursuant to 9 NYCRR S 252.2(n), Contractor must document 'good faith efforts" to provide
meaningful participation by SDVOBS as subcontractors or Suppliers in the performance of the
Contract.

lll. SDVOB Utilization Plan

A. ln accordance with 9 NYCRR S 252.2, the Contractor represents and warrants that it has submitted
a completed SDVOB Utilization Plan with all required bid forms to the MBO no later than the
execution date of this Contract. A sample utilization plan is included as Attachment 3.

B. The Contractor certifies that it will follow the submitted SDVOB Utilization Plan for the performance
of SDVOBS on the Contract pursuant to the prescribed SDVOB contract goal set forth above.

C. The Contractor further agrees that a failure to use SDVOBS as agreed in the Utilization PIan shall
constitute a material breach ofthe terms ofthe Contract. Upon the occurrence of such a material
breach, the Recipient shall be entitled to any remedy provided herein, including but not limited to,
a finding that the Contractor is not responsible.

D. The Contractor must report any changes to the Utilization Plan after Contract award and during
the term of the Contract to the MBO. The Contractor shall indicate the changes to the MBO in
the Monthly MWBE-SDVOB Contractor Compliance Report immediately following the change.
At EFC'S discretion, an updated SDVOB Utilization Plan form and good faith effort
documentation may be required to be submitted. When a Utilization Plan is revised due to
execution of a change order, the change order should be submitted to the MBO with the Monthly
MWBE/SDVOB Contractor Compliance Report or revised Utilization Plan.

E. The Contractor shall submit copies of all fully executed subcontracts, agreements, and purchase
orders that are referred to in the SDVOB Utilization PIan to the MBO within 30 days of thejr
execution.

Mandatory SFA Terms and Conditions fot Contracts Funded with NYS Financial Assistance Only
Page 9 of 10 Revision Date: 11/1/2023



lV. Request for Waiver

A. lf the Contractor, affer making good faith efforts, is unable to comply with the SDVOB Contract goal,
the Contractor may submit a request for a partial or total waiver on the SDVOB Request for Waiver
form to the MBO, documenting good faith efforts by the Contractor to meet such goal. lf the
documentation included with the waiver request aligns with the documentation identified on the
Request for Waiver form, the MBO shall forward the request to EFC for evaluation, and EFC will
issue a written notice of acceptance or denial within twenty (20) days of receipt.

B. The Contractor shall attempt to utilize, in good faith, the SDVOBS identified within its SDVOB
Utilization Plan, during the performance of the Contract. Requests for a partial or total waiver of
established goal requirements made subsequent to Contract award may be made at any time
during the term of the Contract to the MBO but must be made no later than prior to the
submission of a request for final payment on the Contract.

C. lf the Recipient, upon review of the SDVOB Utilization Plan and Monthly SDVOB Contractor
Compliance Report determines that Contractor is failing or refusing to comply with the SDVOB
Contract goal and no waiver has been issued in regard to such non-compliance, the Recipient
may issue a notice of deficiency to Contractor. Contractor must respond to the notice of
deficiency within seven business days of receipt. Such response may include a request for
partial or total waiver of SDVOB Contract goals.

V. Monthly SDVOB Contractor Compliance Report ("Monthly MWBE-SDVOB Report")

A. ln accordance with I NYCRR S 252.2(q), Contractor is required to report monthly SDVOB
contractor compliance to the MBO during the term of the Contract for the preceding month's
activity, documenting progress made towards achieving the Contract SDVOB goals. The
Contractor agrees to submit a report to the MBO by the third business day following the end of each
month overthe term of this Contract. The Monthly M\ /BE-SDVOB Report must be supplemented
with proof of payment by the Contractor to its Subcontractors (e.9., copies of both sides of a
cancelled check). The final Monthly M\ /BE-SDVOB Report must reflect all Utilization Plan revisions
and change orders.

VI. Breach of Contract and Damages

A. In accordance with 9 NYCRR S 252.2(s), any Contractor found to have willfully and intentionally
failed to comply with the SDVOB participation goals set forth in the Contract, shall be found to
have breached the contract and Contractor shall pay damages as set forth therein.

SECTION 3 REQUIREMENTS REGARDING SUSPENSION AND DEBARMENT

The requirements of this section apply to all Contracts and Subcontracts.

The Contractor and any Subcontractors have not been deemed ineligible to submit a bid on or be
awarded a public contract or subcontract pursuant to Article 8 of the State Labor Law, specifically Labor
Law S 220-b. ln addition, neither the Contractor nor any Subcontractors have contracted with, or will
contract with, any party that has been deemed ineligible to submit a bid on or be awarded a public
contract or subcontract under Labor Law S 220-b.

ln addition, the Contractor and any Subcontractors have not been deemed ineligible to submit a bid and
have not contracted with and will not contract with any party that has been deemed ineligible to submit a
bid under Executive Law S 316.

SECTION 4 CONSTRUCTION SIGNS

The requirements of this section apply to a EFC projects.

lf Contractor is expected to provide an EFC Construction Sign, a specification will be included in the
enclosed contract documents.

Mandatory SFA Terms and Conditions for Contracts Funded with NYS Financial Assistance Only
Page 10 of 10 Revision Date: 11/1n023



ATTACHMENTS (Required Forms)

Mandatory SFA Terms and Conditions for Contracts Funded with NYS Financial Assistance Only
Revision Date : 1 1 /1 /2023



Attachment 1 - EEO Policy Statement

Mandatory SFA Terms and Conditions for Contracts Funded with NYS Financial Assistance Only
Revi sion Date : 1 1 /1 /2023



-4S8. lrnvironmentalz----\?rAre 
I Facilities Corporationv I

New York State Environmental Facilities Corporation
EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY POLICY STATEMENT

NEWYORK STATE FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS

l, _, am the authorized representative of _.
Name oi Repesentaiire Name of Conlractor/Seryi@ P.ovider

lhefebycertifythat-Willabidebytheequalemployment
Name of ContEclor/Seruice Prolider

opportunity (EEO) policy statement provisions outlined below.

(i) The Contractor will not discriminate on the basis of race, creed, color, national origin, sex,
age, disability, or marital status against any employee or applicant for employment, will
undertake or continue existing programs of affirmative action to ensure that minority group
members and women are afforded equal employment opportunities without discrimination
and will make and document its conscientious and active efforts to employ and utilize
minority group members and women in its work force on Contracts relating to Water Grant
projects.

(ii) The Contractor shall state in all solicitations or advertisements for employees that, in lhe
performance of the Contract relating to this Water Grant project, all qualified applicants will
be afforded equal employment opportunities without discrimination because of race, creed,
color, national origin, sex, age, disability or marital status.

(iii) The Contractor shall request each employment agency, labor union, or authorized
representative of workers with which it has a collective bargaining or other agreement or
understanding, to furnish a written statement that such employment agency, labor union,
or representatjve will not discriminate on the basis of race, creed, color, national origin,
sex, age, disability or marital status, and that such union or representative will affirmatively
cooperate in the implementation of the Contractofs obligations herein.

(iv) The Contractor shall comply with the provisions of the Human Rights Law (Article 15 of the
Executive Law), including those relating to non-discrimination on the basis of prior criminal
conviction and prior arrest, and with all other State and federal statutory and constitutional
non-discrimination provisions. The Contractor and Subcontractors shall not discriminate
against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, creed (religion), color,
sex, national origin, sexual orientation, military status, age, disability, predisposing genetic
characteristic, marital status or domestic violence victim status.

(v) The Contractor will include the provisions of subdivisions (i) through (iv) in every
Subcontract in such a manner that the requirements of these subdivisions will be binding
upon each Subcontractor as to work in connection with the Contract.

X
Co n tra cto r/Servi ce Provider Representative

EEO Policy Statement 10t2020



Attachment 2 - EFC MWBE Utilization Plan

Mandatory SFA Tems and Conditions for Contracts Funded with NYS Financial Assistance Only
Revision Dale: 1 1n023



1-irw
YORK/ . STATE

\=.
iEnvironmental

I 
Facilities Corporation

Environmental Facilities Corporation
Owned Business Enterprise (MWBE) Utilization Plan

NYS
Minority- & Women-

lnstructions lor Contractors & Service ProvideF:

Contractors and Service Providers must complete Sections 2 and 3. Submit the completed, signed (electronic signaturc box checked and dated) lorm to the
Recipient's l'rinority Business Officer (MBO) no laterthan the date of contract execution. lncomplete forms will be found deficient. lf more than 10 subcontractors
are used, additional pages for Sectjon 3 can be fuund on EFC'S website-

ll the prime contract is being performed by the parties to a Joint Venture, Teaming Agreemenl, or Mentor-Prot6g6 Agreement that includes a certified
MWBE, please contact EFC forassistance.

MWBE l5rms must be certifed by the NYS Empire State Development Corporation (ESD) in order to be counted to{vards satisfaction of MWBE participation goals. The
utilization of certified MVVBES for non-commercially useful functions may not be counted tolvaads utilization of certified M\ JtsEs in be Utilization Plan. Please note
whether a frm is serving as a broker or supplier on the contract. A broker is denoted by NAICS mde 425120 and is designated as a broker in ES85_!{!@EDjICdQIy.
Asupplier is denoted by a NAICS code beginning with 423 or424, or a NIGP code that does not begin with the number I and is designaied as a supplier in ESD'S
MWBE Directory. lf a firm is serving as a broker, please additionally prcvide the percentage of the brcker's commission on the contract.

See the MgldgbllfgEs_elC_Qqldjlels or consult your designated MBO for further guidance.

lnstructions for Minodty Business Officers (MBO):

The I\IBO must mmdete Seclion 1 . Email the completed, signed (electonic signature box checked and dated) frcrm to your EFC Program Compliance Specialist.

ThesubjectheadingoftheemailtotheEFCProg€mComplianceSpecialistshouldlbllowthefomat"UP,Proj€ctNumber,Contractor.'EFCwillreviewtheUtilization
Plan and emailthe MBO an acceptance ordenial.

NIWBE Utilization Plan SRF Terms & Conditions Revision Date: 5/15/2023



NYS Environmental Facilities Corporation
Minority- & Women- Owned Business Enterprise (MWBE) utitization Plan

SRF Tems & Conditions Revision Date:2/1/2023

Recipient/Municipality: County:

Project No.: GIGP No.: Contract lD: Registration No. (NYC only):

Minority Business Officer: Email: Phone #:

Address ot IBO:

! I certiry that the information submitted herein is true, accurate and @mplete to the best of my knowledge and belief.
Electronic Signature of MBO:

Date:

Firm Name: Contract Type: ! Construction ! Other Services

Prime Firm is Certified as: ! MBE n WBE n N/A I Other:
lfcedified, please include Prime information in Section 3. lfdualcertified, you must select either l\rBE OI WBE.

Address: Phone #: Fed. EmDlover lD #:
Description ofWork: Email:
Award Date: Staft Date: Completion Date: MWBE GOAL Total PROPOSED MWBE Participatlon

MWBE Eligible Contract Amount: $
(M\,/8E Goals are applied to this amount and includes all change orders,
amendments, & specjalt waivers)

Total: % $ Total: % $



MWBE Utilizalion Plsn

NYS Environmental Facilities Corporation
Minority- & Women- Owned Business Enterprise (MWBE) Utilization Plan

SRF Tems & Condilions Reuision Dzl.e: Z1l2O23



IVWBE Ulilizaiion PIan

NYS Environmental Facilities Corporation
Minority- & Women- Owned Business Enterprise (MWBE) Utilization Plan

SRF Terms & Conditions Reltision Da\e: Z1l2O23



Aftachment 3 - EFC SDVOB Utilization Plan

Mandatory SFA Terms and Conditions for Contracts Funded with NYS Financial Assistance Only
Revision Date: 1 1/1n023



,-/TEp* | Environmentat
.---\?rArE 

I Facilities Corporation-l:.t
NYS Environmental Facilities Corporation

Service-Disabled Veteran€wned Business (SDVOB) Ljtilization Plan

lnstructions for Contractors & Sedice Providers:

Contractors and Service Providers must complete Sections 2 and 3. Submit the completed, signed (electronic signature box checked and daGd) form in
Microsoft Word format to the Recipient's designated Minority gusiness Officer (MBO) no later than the date of contEct execution. lncomplete frcrms will be
iound defrcjent. lf more than 1 0 subcootraclors are used, additional pages for Section 3 can be found on EFC'S website.

lf the prime contract is being performed by the parties to a JointVenture, Teaming Agrcement, or Mentor-Prot6g6 Agreementthat includes a certified
SDVOB, please contact EFC for assistance.

The utilizatjon of certifed SDVOBS for non-mmmercially usefulfunclions may not be counted towards utilization of certifed SDVOBS in the utilizaton Plan.
SDVOB frms must be certifed by NYS OfRc€ of General Services in orde. to be counted towads satisfaction of SDVOB participation goals.

See the SFA Mandatory Terms and Conditions or consult your designated MBO for further guidance.

lnstructions for Minority Businesg Olficers (MBO):

The MBO must complete Section '1. E hailthe com pleted, signed (electronic signature box checked and dated) lorm in Microsoft Word tormat to your EFC
Prcgram Compliance Specialist.

Thesubjectheadingofthee-mailtotheEFCProgramComplianceSpecialistshouldfollowthetbrmat'UP,ProjectNumber,Contractor.'EFCwillreviewtheUtilization
Plan and email the l\,,lBO an acceptance or denial.

SDVOB Utilization Plan Revision Dale: February 2023



SDVOB Ulilizalion Plan

NYS Environmental Facilities Corporation
Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Business (SDVOB) Utilization Plan

Revision Dale: February 2023

Recipient/Municipality: County:

Proiect No.: GIGP No.: Contract lD: Registration No. (NYC only):

Minority Business Officer: Email: Phone #:

Address of MBO:

Electronic Signaturc of MBO:
E I c€rtify that the information submitted herein is true, accurate and complete to the best of my knowledge and beliei Date:

Firm Name: Contract Type: E Construction E Other Services

Prime Frfin ls (;enltrecl as: L_lsDVOts
lf .€dified ole:se include Prime information in Se.jion 3

Addrcss: Phone #: Fed. Emolover lD #:
Descdption ol Work: Email:

Alrrard Date: Start Date: ComDletion Date: SDVOB GOAL Total PROPOSED SDVOB Participation

Total ConlractAmount $
SDVOB Eligible Contract Amount: $
(Goals are applied to this amount and includes all change orders, amendments, &
waivers)

Total:6% $ Total: o/o $



SDVOB Ulilizalion Plan

NYS Environmental Facilities Corporation
Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Business (SDVOB) Utilization Plan

Revision Date: February 2023

This Submittal is:

Date:

n The FirsUO ginal tjtilization Plan n Revised Utjlization Plan #:

Name:

Start Date:

Address:

Full Subcontract Amount S

ol Wo*:
Email:

Phone #:

DSDVBD Control#:
Fed. tD#:

Name: Fed. EmDlover lD#:

Address: DSDVBD Control #:

Scope ofWork: Phone #:

Full Subcontract Amount: $ Email:

Start Date: Completion Date:

Name: Fed. Employer lD#:

DSDVBD Control #:

ScoDe ofWork: Phone #:

Full SubcontractAmount: $ Email:

Start Date: ComDletion Date:

Name: Fed. Employer lD#:

Address: DSDVBD Control#:
Scope ofWork: Phone #:

Full SubcontractAmount $ Email:

Start Date: Completion Date:

Narne: Fed. EmDlover lO#:

Address: DSDVBD Control #:

Scope ofWork: Phone #:

Full Subcontract Amount $ Email:

Start Date: Completion Date:



SDVOB Llilization Plan

NYS Environmental Facilities Corporation
Service-Disabled Veteran.owned Business (SDVOB) Utilization Plan

Revision Date: February 2023

Name: Fed. Emplover lD#:

Address: DSDVBD Control #:

Scope ot wofk: Phone #:

Full Subcontract AmounL $ Email:
Start Date: Completion Datei

Name: Fed. Employer lD#:

Address: DSDVBD Control#:
Scope of Work: Phone #:

Email:

Stad Date: Complelion Date:

Name: Fed. Employer lD#:

Addrcss: DSDVBD Control #:

Scope of Work: Phone #:

Email:

Start Datel Completion Date:

Fed. Emplover lD#:

Address: DSDVBD Control#:
Scop€ of Work: Phone #:

Full Subcontracf Amount: Email:

Start Date: Completion Date:

Electronic Signature ot Contractor: L_.1 I certiry that the information submitted herein is t.ue, accuEte and complete to the best of my
knowledge and that all SDVOB subcontractors will perform a commercially useful function.
Name (Please Type):

Date:



SRF Financing Application

Submitted to EFC on 812712025.

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

A, Applicant

Name ofApplicant: City of Lockport County: Niagara

Federal l.D, Number: 16-6002547 Uhique Entity ldentifier (UEl a,k.a. SAM lD): LsFLNMCSJP3g

Proiect Name Lead Service Line Replacement

Project Description: Lead service Line Replacement

List each projec{ (and its location) forwhich finahcing is desired separately in the following table. Projed Numbers
have been assigned by EFC or DOH, and follow the format C'l -1234-56-78 (CWSRF) or D0-12345 (DWSRF). Project
numbers and scores are listed in the respeclive lntended Use Plan (lUP) Annual Project Priority List. Please refer to
the Municipal Application Form lnstructions and Guidahce for assistance in completing this application.

B, Projects

SRF Project Number:

Service Area:

Legislative Districts

19807 Municipal Location: Lockport, City of

City of Lockport

Latitude: 43.169750 Longitude: -78.695620 Zip +4i 140943623

NY Assembly 144 (Primary) Paul A. Bologna, NY Senate 62 (Primary) Robert Ortt, uS
Congress 24 (Primary) Claudia Tenney

Al27 12025 IL:07 i45 AM



SRF Financing Application

2. PROJEGT INFORMATION
NOTE: Answers must be "yes" to all questions below and doclments requested in subsections A through E provided in
order for EFC to consider this application acceptable and to process your application. ll you cannot answer "yes" to the
questions below or cannot provide the requested documents, do hot continue with this application !ntil appropriate action
is taken on the item required.

A. Enqineerino Report

Has the project engineering report been developed in accordance with the engineering report outline?

Yes

lf no, the projecl engineering report may need to be amended.

B. Bond Resolution

Attached

C. District Formation. District Extehsion or Other OSC Apbrovals

Fortowns and counties - Office of State Comptroller (OSC) approval is required for districl establishment or
expansion, orwhen the maximum amount to be expended for such districl is increased.

Not Applicable

D. Environmental Aoprovals (SEOR/SERPI

Has your environmental review (SEQR) been completed?

Yes

lfYes, Attached

Action classified as:

Type ll

E. SHPO Proiect Review Determination Letter

Projects will need to solicit a lefter from Office of
that a suitable State Historic Preservation Office
resources has been initiated or completed.

Attached

F. Environmental Justice Considerations

Willthe impacts ofthe proposed water quality improvement project demonstrate a benefit to an Environmental
Justice (EJ) area or Disadvantaged Community (DAC), community, or street location as indicated on maps available
at DEC'S website and DEClnfo Locator mapper?

Yes The DEClnfo Locator mapper can be found at
https://gisservices.dec.ny.gov/gis/dil/.

lfyes, please describe. lf no, include a statement that no EJ areas or DACS are served by your project.

Yes, a majority ofthe City is considered both environmental justice areas and disadvantaged communities.

Parks, Recreation, and Historic Preservation (OPRHP) indicating
(SHPO) review of potential impacts on historic properties and

2812712025 1|07i45 AN



SRF Financing Application

3. PROJECT PERMITS AND APPROVALS

Applicable Permits I Approvals Required Status Date Applied Date Approved

A. NYS DEC Environmental Permits

1. Water Supply Application

2. Wetlahds

3. Water Protection

4. Excavation & Fill

5. SPDES

6. Waste Transportet

7. Coasial Erosion Hazard Areas

8. Long lsland Wells Program

9, Air Pollution Control

10. Wld, Scenic, & Recreation Rivers

l'1. Water Quality Certification

12. Flood Plain Management

B. NYS OSC Approvai for Towns in the Adirondack Park

C. NYS Department of Tra nsportation

D. NYS Department of State

E. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers

F. RailroadsRights-of-Way

G. NYS Adirondack Park Agency

H. NYS Agriculture & Markets - Agricuftural District

l. New York City Watershed Protection

J. City/Town^/illageBoard

K. City/Town^/illagePlanningBoard

L. City/Town Zoning Board

M. City/County Health Department

N. Other LocalAgencies

O. NYS Health Department

P. Other Permits list below

L City - Contractor Work Permit

4. CONTACT LIST

Highest Elected Official
Salutation:

Address: 1 Locks Plaza

First: John Middle: LasL Lombardi Title: Mayor
t

City: Lockport

Phone: 716-439-6665

Term Office Expires:

State: NY Zipt 140943623

Email: jlombardi@lockportny.gov

LJ
n
nilil
ililil
L-t

n
il
il
n
n
n
TIt*t
L-t
t-l

il
m
It
t{

m
n
m

m

Bl27 12025 1,|07 t45 AM



SRF Financing Application

Authorized Representative

Salutation:

Address: 1 Locks Plaza

First: Dahiel Middle: Last Cavallari Title: Direclor of
Fihahce

City:

Phone:

Lockport

7't 6-439-6631

State: NY Zipi 14094

Emaill dcavallari@lockportny.gov

Ghief Fiscal Ofticer
Salutation:

Address: 1 Locks Plaza

First: Sue Middle: Last: Mawhiney Title: Treasurer

City: Lockport

Phone: 716-439-6743

Term Office Expires:

State: NY Zipt 140943623

Ernail: smawhiney@lockportny.gov

Clerk
Salutation:

Address: 1 Locks Plaza

First; Emily Middle: Lash Stoddard Title: Cle*

City:

Phone:

Lockport

716-439-6676

State: NY Zipi 140943623

Email: citycle*@lockportny.gov

Accounts Payable

Salutation:

Address:

First: Middle: Last: Title:

City: State:

Email:

Zipl
Phone:

Te]m Office Expires:

Minority Business Officer
Salutation:

Address: 1 Locks Plaza

First Daniel Middle: Last: Cavallari Title: Director of
Finance

City:

Phone:

Lockport

716-439-6631

Statei NY Zipt 140943623

Email: dcavallari@lockportny.gov

Daily Contact
Salutation:

Address: MunicipalSolutions

62 Main Street

City: LeRoy

Phone: 58S768-2136

First: Kaitlyn Middle: Last Stephahy Title: Associate

State: NY Zipt 144A2

Email: kstephany@municipalsolutioh.com

4Al21 12025 rIiOT i45 AM



SRF Financing Application

5. PROJECT BUDGET AND CONSTRUCTION COSTS

A, Construction Contracts

Contract Number: 1 Contract Amount: gl7,2g7,5oo

Contractor Namei To Be Determined

Submit Project Plans & Specifications for review & approval: 6nSt2O26 Award Bids:
Construction Staft: 101152026 placed in Service (Substantial Completion):
Cohst.uction Completion (Final): 12131 12027

911512026

10t15t2027

5

Consulting Engineer
Salutaiiotl:

Address: 80 Main Street, UnitA

First: Mike Middle: Last Marino Title: PE

City: Loc*port

716-827 -aOOO

State: NY Zip:. 14094

Email: mmarino@nusscla*e.comPhone:

Local Gounsel
Salutation:

Address: 1 Locks Plaza

Fi6t: David Middle: Last: Blackley Title: Corporate
Counsel

City:

Phone:

Lockport

716439-6776
State: NY Zip|. 14094

Email: dblackley@lockportny.gov

Bond Counsel
Salutation:

Address: 51 West 52nd Street

Firct: Douglas Middle: Last: Goodfrien Title: Esq.
d

City: New York

212-506-s211

State: NY Zipi 10019

Email: dgoodfriend@orrick.comPhone:

Financial Advisor
Salutatioh:

Address: 62 Main Street

FirsL Matthew Middle: Last: Smith Title: Associate

City: LeRoy

585-768-2136

State: NY Zipi 14482

Email: mrsmith@municipalsolution.comPhone:

Additional Contact
Saluiation:

Address:
First: Middle: Last: Ti e:

City:

Phone:

State:

Email:

zip:

Bl27/2O25IIiO7:45 AM



SRF Financing Application

B. Total Project Budget for SRF Projects

1. Construction Costs;

Contract Total:

2. Engineering Costs:

3. Other Expense:

LocalCounsel:

Bond Counsel:

Work Force . Technical:

Work Force - Administration:

Fiscalservices:
Net lnterest:

Miscellaneous:

4. Equipment:

5. Land Acquisition:

6. Contingencies:

7. Total Project Costs:

8. Less: Other Sources of Funding:

9. Proiect Costs to be Financed with SRF (line 7 minus line 8):

$17,287,500

$2,533,125

$o

$20,000

$o

$0

$41,ooo

$o

$5,000

Legal ads, Permits, Postage, etc.

$o

$o

$530,419

$20,477,044

$o

$20,477,O44

C. Other Sources of Funding t

Funding Source Other Source
Description Applied Approved Received Amount Pre-Financing with SRF

Short-Term Financing?

1 Please review your co-funding application contracts for terms & conditions of pre-financing or refunding options.

6A/2712025 1.ItD7 t45 AM



SRF Financing Application

6. INTERMUNICIPAL OR OTHER AGREEMENTS

Has the applicant entered ihto, or is the applicant contemplatihg entering into, any agreement(s) betweeh itself and any
other municipality (or municipalities) or any other entity regarding the sharihg of responsibility for ownership,
construction, payment, use, operation or maintenance of the project?

No

7. TAX IMPLICATION QUESTIONS

Non-Govemment Users

Are there any culrent or projected non-governmental users ofthe system with which the system/applicant has a specific
contraclual agreement as to rates and charges which are not available to the general public?

No

Private Oberatino Aqreements

Has the applicant contracted with a private 1lrm for the operation ofthe facility to be financed?

No

8. LITIGATION

ls there any litigation threatehed or existing which would affect this project or substantially impair the applicant's ability to
pay debt service oh its indebtedness?

No

9. PROJECT DEBT ISSUANCE INFORMATION

Has there been any debt issued for projecl?

No

SRF funds may be issued to refinance a prior source of project fihancing, including existing BANS and Bonds. Will SRF
finahcing be used to refinance notes or bonds?

No

Do you plan to issue ahy new debt between submission ofyour SRF financing application and anticipated SRF closing?

No

Debt lssued:

I Please review your co-funding application contracts for terms & conditions ofpre-financing or refunding options.

10. FINANCIAL REPORTS

Whatwas the last year you filed an Annual Financial Report (AFR?)

12t31t2
023

I{. AUDITS

Has the Applicant recently undergone an audit by the Office ofthe State Comptroller or other state or federal regulatory
agency?

No

ls any such audit or formal review underway currently, or has the Applicant been notified that a review or audit will be
conducted in the future?

No

12. TAX COLLECTION PROCEDURES

Al2712025 1.I:07:45 AM



SRF Financing Application

Describe cufient rcal prope(y tax levy and collection procedures (i.e., calendar for tax levy, penalty rates, and
enforcement including foreclosure procedures).

Taxes are due during the month of Jahuary. Taxes paid thereafter carry a penaliy of 3% during February,
5% during March, and 6% during April. Beginning May '1, the pehalty is 6% plus l/2% per month through
December 15. Liens which are olderthan two years may be foreclosed, at which time title is transferred to
the City and the City may sell the property.

13. ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL DATA

Are you submitting an Official Statement or continuihg disclosure document(s) as part ofthis application?

A. larsesLEEdevels
Employer Type of Business Number of Employees

General Motors Corp

County of Niagara

Lockport City School District

Candlelight Cabinetry

City of Lockport

MAHLE Behr Troy lnc.

Diversifi ed Manufaclurin g

Manufacturer- Auto
Part

Government

1,587

'1,485

800

218

211

210

150

2

3 Public Ed0cation

Manufacturer - Custom
Cabinets

Government

Manufacturer ' Auto
Parts

Specialty Fabricating

B. Laroest RealPropertv Taxpavers

Taxpayer Type of Business Assessed Valuation Exemption Dispute

I NYS Electric & cas Corporation

2 GIV Components Holding LLC

3 NationalGrid

4 Nebula Holdings LLC

5 Park Lahe Circle LLC

6 Maximus 909 Lincoln LLC

7 Pulsar Properties

8 8G271 Properties

I MAHLE Behr USE lnc

10 FerryPort Wings

Utility

lndustrial

Utiilty

Commercial

Apartment / Health

commercial

Commercial

Commercial

Commercial

Commercial

$56,253,653

$28,880,000

$23,561,570

$6,961,800

$5,000,000

$4,'r 60,000

$4,140,000

$4,000,000

$3,860,000

$3,850,000

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

C, Taxable Assessed Value

Year: 2025 2024

Amount: $1,316,260,360 $1,253,537,817

D, Apblicanfs lhdebtedness

l. Debt Summary Data and Calculations

Statement of Debt Contracting Power as of:

$ 1,167,997,805

2022

$695,2'17,910

Al27 12025 lli07 i45 AM

a|1512025



SRF Financing Application

a) Average of fullvaluation oftaxable real property for the five most recent years
(including current year)l

b) Debt limit (7% of five-year average full valuation in a) above).

c) Long-Term lndebtedness

d) Bond Anticipation Notes

e) Total Gross lndebtedness (e = c + d)

D Exclusions (list seperately)

$1,145,436,7
53

$80,180,573

$8,353,r91

$2,35r,r40
$10,704,331

$4,190,000

Type (specify water, sewer, ot other) Amount

Water lndebtedness $4,190,000

g) Total Netlndebtedness (g = e -D
h) Net Debt Contracling Margin (h = b - g) (unused debt capacity)

i) Debt Contracting Power Exhausted (i = (g + b) x 100)
j) Debt Contracting Power Remaining'l 0=100-i) 1

$6,514,331

1 If debt cohtracting power with this potential financing exceeds '1OO% contacl your
local counsel (CWSRF only).

2. Applicant's Outstandihg General Obligation and Revenue Bonded Debt as of: A4SI2025

Provide a debt service summary, including principal retirement, for all outstanding general obligation and revenue
bonded debt for the applicant's curreht fiscalyear and the next 10 fiscal years (Do not include short-term
obligations):

$73,666,2i12

$8

$92

FiscalYear Principal lnterest Total Debt
Endihg (a) (b) Service (a+b)

12t31t2025

1213112026

1213112027

12131DO2A

12t3't t2029

12t31t2030

12t31t2031

12t31nO32

12131t2033

12t31t2034

12/31t2035

$955,364

$735,969

$716,000

$668,286

$665,815

$638,399

$636,062

$633,4'12

$625,546

$493,695

$4'18,511

$789,000

$475,191

$503,000

$468,000

$478,000

$463,000

$473,000

$483,000

$488,000

$368,000

$303,000

$166,3M

$260,778

$213,000

$200,286

$187,815

$175,39S

$163,062

$150,412

$137,546

$125,695

$115,511

E. Planned Debt lssuance

Describe current plans for hon-projed related authorized debt for the next three years. This information is available from
the Applicant's CFO.

Please see attached.

F. State Aid Pledded as Securitv

Are you aware of any State Aid or Local Assistance Payments pledged as security for the repayment of debt?

No

9al27 /2025 ItiOT 145 AM



SRF Financing Application

14. SMART GROWTH

l. Does the projec{ advahce or otherwise involve the use of, maintenance, or improvement of existing infrastructure?
yes

2. ls the project located wholly or partially in a municipal center, charac{erized by any ofthe following? Check allthat
appty:

m
L-t

A city or a village

Area of concentrated and mixed lahd use that serves as a centerfor various activities including, but not
limited to:

Central business districts (such as the commercial and ofren geographic heart of a municipality,
'downtown", "city centel')

f-l Main streets (such as the primary retail street of a village, town, or small city. lt is usually a focal

- point for shops and retailers in the central business district, and is most often used in reference to
retailing and socializinq)

n Downtown areas (such as a city's core (or center) or central business district, usually in a* geographical, commercjal, and community sense)

m Brownfield Opportuhity Areas

fi Downtown areas of Local Waterfront Revitalization Program areas

f-l Locations of transit-oriented development (such as projects serving areas that have access to mass

- or public transit for residents)

Environmental Justice Areas

f,f Harosnin nreas

ls the project located adjacent to municipal centers (please see characteristics in question 2 above) with clearly
defined borders, in an area designated for concentrated development in the future by a municipal or regional
comprehensive plan that exhibits strong land use, transportation, infrastructure, and economic connections to an
existing municipal center?

Yes

ls the project located in an area designated by a municipal or comprehensive plan, and appropriately zoned, as a
future municipal center?

Yes

ls the project located wholly or partially in a developed area or an area designated for concentrated infill
development in accordance with a municjpally approved comprehensive land use plan, a localwaterfront
rcvitalization plan, Brownfield Opportunity Area plan, or other development plan?

No

Does the project preserve and enhance the state's resources, including agricultural lands, forests, surface and
groundwater, air quality, recreation and open space, scenic areas, and/or significant historic and archaeological
resources?

Does the project foster mixed land uses and compact development, downtown revitalization, brownfield
redevelopment, the enhancement of beauty in public spaces, the diversity and affordability of housing in proximity
to places of employment, recreation, and commercial development and/or the integration of all income and age
groups?

Yes

Does the project provide mobility through transportation choices, including improved public transportation and
reduced automobile dependency?

Not Applicable

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

L

9.

Al27 /2025 IL,O7 i45 AM 10



SRF Financing Application

Does the project demonstrate coordination among state, regional, ahd local plannihg and governmental officials?
(Demonstration may ihclude State Environmental Quality Review ["SEQR"] coordination with involved and
interested agencies, district formation, agreements between involved parties such as intermunicipal agreements,
letters of support, State Pollutant Discharge Elimination System ["SPDES"] permit issuahce/revision notices,
consent orders or other compliance or enforcement related agreements or settlements, etc.).

Yes

10. Does the projecl involve community-based plahhing and collaboration?

Yes

'11. ls the projecl consistent with local building and land use codes?
yes

12. Does the project promote sustainability by strengthening existing and creating new communities which reduce
greehhouse gas emissions and do not compromise the needs offuture generations?

Yes

'13, During the development ofthe project, was there broad-based public involvement? (May include SEQR
coordination with involved and interested agencies, SPDES permit issuance/tevision notice, approval of Bond
Resolution, district formation, evidence of public hearings, Environmehtal Notice Bulletin ["ENB"] or other published
notices, letters of support, etc.).

Yes

14. Does the Applic€nt have an ongoing governance structure to sustain the implementation of community planning?

Yes

'15. Does the project mitigate future physical climate risk due to sea level rise, and/or storm surges and/or flooding,
based on available date predicting the likelihood offuture extreme weather events, including hazard risk analysis
data if applicable?

Not Applicable

15. PROGRAM REQUIREMENTACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

A. Disadvantaoed Business Enterprise, Minority and Women Business Enterprise. and Eoual Emplovment
Opportunitv (DBE-MWBE-EEO)

As a condition of receivino SRF financial assistance. vou are reouired to comply with New York State
Executive Law. Article '1SA or the Disadvantaoed Business Enterprise reouirements of40 CFR Part 33 with
respect to MWBE participation opportunities.

As a condition of rec€ivino SRF financial assistance. vou must also comoly with the Eoual Employment
Opoortunities requirements of Title Vll of the Civil Riohts Acl of 1 964 ahd 41 CFR Part 60-1

Acknowledged

B. Davis Bacon Prevailinq Waqes

ln addition to any other applicable State or local prevailing wage requirements, workers on SRF funded
construction contracts are required to be paid the higher of State, local or federal prevailing wages (applies to
treatment works projects only for CWSRF and all projects for DWSRF).

Acknowledged

C. American lron and Steel(AlS)

treatment works projeds and all DWSRF projects
must be produc€d

Acknowledged

1.

2.

8127/20251|07:45 AM 11



SRF Financing Application

{6. REOUIRED DOCUMENTS

UploadedDocument Type

Annual Financial Report

Official Statement

Other

Bond Resolution

Engineering Report

Documehtation

Other

File Name Description

2023 AFR_Lockport C.pdf 2023 AFR

Lockport C_FOS
$1,717,191 SB 04-25.pdf
Capital Project Plans
Lockport C_OS Capital Project Plans
$1,717,191 SB 04-25.pdf
BR $20,477,044 LSL
Replacement_Lockpod C Bond Resolution
08-13-25.pdf
Engineering Report_LSL
Replacement_Lockport C
06-2024.pdf
SEQR Type ll

[!iii$]l;iih-..-13 sEeR resorution

-25.pdf
2025 05 07 EXECUTED
Contrad LSL
iJoLI.l-n]rrseozr MunicipalSolutions

sirrn snrc' agreement

FS-Lockport C.pdf

ff"inHlffi "t 
2o24Avdit

SHPO Letter_LSL
Replace_Lockport C 8- SHPO letter

Uploaded By Email

oh.com
Kstephany@municipalsoluti
on.com

Kstephany@municipalsoluti
on.com

Kstephany@municipalsoluti
on,com

Kstephany@municipalsoluti
on.com

Kstephany@municipalsoluti
on,c,om

Kstephany@municipalsoluti
on.com

Kstephany@municipalsoluti
on.com

Kstephany@municipalsoluti
on.com

Kstephany@municipalsoluti
on.com

Audited Financial Statements

SHPO Project Review
Determination

Signature for Application

2025.pdt
Sionature Peoe LSL

- snnelure lorReotacemenl Lod<non (: " .:' ADDltcaton
{srqneoJ.por

8t1512025

8t15t2025

8t1512025

8t15t2025

8t15t2025

a|1512025

a|1512025

a125n025

a12712025

8t27 t2025

8l27l2l25l1to7:45 AM t2



w NUSSEAUMXR
& CLARKX,INC"
r N6 ll,{f !43 AND SUnVIYOtlS

X"Iaren

City of Lockport

NYS Bipartisan
lnfrastructure Law / NYS
Drinking Water State
Revolving Fund
Lead Service Line Replacement Engineering Report

June 14,2024



City of Lockport
Lead Service Line Replacement Engineering Report

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY........ ...... 1-1

...... 1-31. SYSTEM BACKGROUND
1.1
1.2
t.J
1.4
1.5

2.1
2.2
2.3

Water System Description.........
Existing Service Line lnventory....
Service Line Ownership/Responsible Party
Lead History
Additional Pertinent lnformation .................

.--_ t-J

.... 1-3

.... 1-3

.... 1-3

....1-4

--.- z-o
...- 2-O
....2-6
.... z-b
.... z-o
....2-8
....2-8
....2-8
....2-9
....2-9
....2-9

2-10
2-10

2, PROJECTDESCRIPTION,.
Project Administration.....................
Performance of Work......................
LSL Replacement Activities............
2.3.1 Overview...........
2.3.1 Pre-Construction Activities..
2.3.2 Service Line lnspections......
2.3.3 Customer Notification..........
2.3.4 Private Property Access......
2.3.5 Post LSLR Activities............
2.3.6 Flushing Activities................
2.3.7 Point of Use Fi|ters..............
2.3.8 Sampling

LIST OF TABLES
Table ES-1: Project Cost Estlmate (from AWWA, 2022) ..
Table ES-2. Project Schedule

.,',.''.,.',',.'''' 4-,12

Table 1 :

fabb2'.
Project
Project

EJ Census lnformation........
Cost Estimate (from AWWA, 2022) ..........

.1-2

.1-2

.1-4
3-11
4-12Table 3: Project Schedule....

LIST OF FIGURES
Figure 1: Lead Sampling Results ..............
Figure 2: Project Area with Potential EJ Areas and Census Blocks....
Figure 3: Project Organizational Struc'ture..
Figure 4: Summary of LSL Process and Coordination.

1-4
1-5
2-6
2-7

Flaz6{l and Satvyor I Nussbaumer& Clarke, lnc.



A
AL

City of Lockport
Lead Service Line Replacement Engineering Report

LIST OF ACRONYMS

Action Level
American Water Works Association

BIL Infrastructure Law
of

DOH of Health
DWSRF Water State Fund

EFC Environmental Facilities
IUP lntended Use Plan
LCR Lead and Rule
LCRR Lead and Rule Revisions
LSL Lead Service Line
MCL Maximum Contaminant Level
MGD Million Gallons
MHI Median Household lncome
NYS New York Siate
NYSDOH New York State of Health
PEJA Potential Environmental Justice Area

Pa rts Billion

USEPA United States Environmental Protection
WTP Water Treatment Plant

Haz6nard 8awy6r I Nussbaumer & Clarke, lnc.



City of Lockport
Lead Service Line Replacement Engineering Report

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Nussbaumer & Clarke, lnc. (Nussbaumer) and Hazen and Sawyer (Hazen) were retained by the
Ciiy of Lockport (City) to prepare an Engineering Report in compliance with the New York State
(NYS) Department of Health (DOH)'s July 2022 document Lead Service Line Submission
Guidance to support submission to the Bipartisan lnfrastructure Law (BlL) and Drinking Water
State Revolving Fund (DWSRF) administered by the NYS Environmental Facilities Corporation
(NYSEFC).

The City serves approximalely 20,722 customers in the City of Lockport through approximately
7,739 water service lines. Based on a review of available water system records and observations
from City water system staff, it is anticipated that all service lines in areas constructed prior to
1970 are lead from the water main io the curb box and galvanized from the curb box to the water
meter, which is classified as a Lead Service Line (LSL) under the United States Environmental
Protection Agency's (USEPA) Lead and Copper Rule Revisions (LCRR) and proposed Lead and
Copper Rule lmprovements (LCRI).

This submission serves to identify a Lead Service Line Replacement (LSLR) project in the City
water system that is within a Potential Environmental Justice Area. This area includes 1,383
service lines in an area that is among the most disadvantaged in the City. All service lines in the
selected project area are anticipated to have an LSL classification based on a review of water
system records and as observed by City water system personnel. Of all the homes in the project
area, 90% were built prior to 1950, and 670/o wete built in the 1800s.

fl Xopete* Wntrn Oa *ea

21 Eftvlronmenbl lusfice Ar*r pcr iIYSOEC

t

I

Hazqr snd gar#y6r 
I Nussbaumer & Cla*e, lnc.

Project Area

1-1



City of Lockport
Lead Service Line Replacement Engineering Report

The American Water Works Association (A\ A//A) funded a report titled Considerations when
Costing Lead Service Line ldentification and Replacemenl to inform the USEPA's development
of the LCRI. Table ES-1 provides an overview of the major categories necessary to complete a
lead service line replacement (LSLR) based on available industry data, cost trends and utility
surveys. The average cost of $12,500 per LSL was used in estimating the total project cost of
$1 7,287,500 for the City.

Table ES-l: Project Cost Estimate (from AWWA, 2022)

Table ES-2 provides an anticipated project schedule based on an assumed projectfunding award
date of May 1, 2025.

Table ES-2. Project Schedule

Award 5t1t2025

Start Date 6t1t2025

Phase 6t1t2025 - 12/31t2025

Bidding and Contractor Award 11112026 - 311t2026

Construction Phase 3t1t2026 - 11t'v2027

Project Closeout and lnventory Updates 11t112027 - 12t31t2027

HarBn andeawy6. I Nussbaumer & Clarke, lnc, 1-2



City of Lockport
Lead Service Line Replacement Engineering Report

1. SYSTEM BACKGROUND

1.'l Water System Description

The City of Lockport (City) Water Treatment Plant is a 12 million gallon per day (MGD) plant and
serves the City of Lockport water distribution system. The City of Lockport Water Treatment Plant
was constructed in 1930 and is located at 220 Summit Street, in the City of Lockport, Niagara
County, New York. According to the City of Lockport Department of Public Utilities, Division of
Water, Annual Drinking Water Quality Report for 2023, the City's water system serves a
population 20,722 residents through 7,739 service connections. The City of Lockport's Water
System map is provided in Appendix A.

1.2 Existing Service Line lnventory

The City's existing service connection lines inventory records are limited and only available in
paper format. The City's service line inventory records are updated upon property transaction and
service 

'ine 
materials are identified during routine water system operation and maintenance.

Based upon system age, available distribution records and observation by City crews, it is
anticipated that the majority of the water services lines for areas of the water system with homes
built prior to 1970 are lead from the water distribution main to the curb box and galvanized from
the curb box to the water meter.

1.3 Service Line Ownership/Responsible Party

The service line from the water main to the water meter is ihe responsibility of the property owner
in the City. According to City Code, Chapter 185-5, Section K, "AIl water service, pipes, curb
stops and curb stop boxes are considered the property of the property owner, who shall be
responsible for any leakage which may occur the water main in the street and the building
supplied. lt shall be the responsibility of such property owner to maintain such service pipe in a
nonleaking condition at all times and at his own expense".

1.4 Lead History

The City routinely monitors and documents their treated drinking water supply for lead in
accordance with Federal and State Law. Historical lead compliance sampling results between
1992 and 2023 are shown in Figure 1 . The 90th percentile lead levels have varied between 1 and
12.7 parls per billion (ppb), all below the current lead Action Level (AL) of 15 ppb. However, 9Oh
percentiles lead levels observed in the last five monitoring periods have been near the proposed
lower lead action level of 10 ppb under the Lead and Copper Rule lmprovements. Additionally,
lead levels as high as 30.2 ppb were observed during the 2023 monitoring period.

Haz€r aRd Sarryer lNussbaumer& Clarke, lnc. 1-3



City of Lockport
Lead Service Line Replacement Engineering Report

14

12

10

8

6

4

2

0

12.7

J

J

I

1

Fall 1992 20m 2OO2 2005 2008 2011 20'14 2017 2O2O 2023
Year

r 90h Percentile *LCR Lead AL (15 pg/L) *Proposed LCRI Lead AL ('10 pg/L)

Figure 1: Lead Sampling Results

The City's current LCR sample pool consists of Tier 1 single family homes suspected to be served
by LSLS. Compliance will require 5th liter sampling to better represent water quality conditions at
the service line and furthermore under the expected LCRI, both 1sr and sth liter sampling will be
conducted, in which the higher lead level will be reported.

{.5 AdditionalPertinentlnformation

The project focus area in the City of Lockport includes six potential environmental justice (EJ)
areas. Table 1 presents demographic information of the census blocks in the project area,
including the percentage below poverty level and percentage minority population. The population
below the poverty level is between 18Vo and 36.5% and the minority population is between 5%
and 46Vo. A map of potential EJ area communities and census blocks within the City of Lockport,
as established by NYSDEC is shown in Figure 2.

Table 1: EJ Census lnformation

15000us360630236002
15000us360630239012
15000us360630237001
15000us360630237002
'15000us360630235001

15000us360630235003 36.50 4.99

Harsn and gawyas 
I Nussbaumer & Clarke, lnc. 1-4



City of Lockport
Lead Service Line Repiacement Engineering Report

tur.{irl ieltsasr.} ln$t r n:.,
t'g-lA {:*r*r*nb* t *r*rl
!rvi.o*'cr, lsic. A1e. 1PaJA:

l

)

Figure 2: Project Area with Potential EJ Areas and Census Blocks

*err'.rii tsisik Sroup 
',!$'!!b*t1 5000us36ta30235a{: l

*assl,$ gtsci( Grtt,a, $lu**6i
r 3$&tlu$38$r:3**ssc*3

Co$s*$ $igck Sr60p Nunirgr
t 50sous3$0a1.l36aa!

C6r$u$ 8ls*k Q.0;.]p Ndfibe{
1 $0r)$u*3s*83*?3?C0?

Cg&su$ glock 6rsq) Nlrnbe.
I $0tc4"Js$$*63St :'i001

Csr$uii Eio6k Gro{$ f,,u*ob€t
r 5[o0uslso630rtss13

Hazen andSawy6r I Nussbaumer & Clarke, lnc. 't -5



City of Lockport
Lead Service Line Replacement Engineering Report

2. PROJECT DESCRIPTION

2.1 ProjectAdministration

The Project team consisting of key members from the City, Nussbaumer and Hazen is described
in Figure 3, including organization, role and contact information.

lolrD
716-139-6665

Nussbaumer& Clarke, ltc.
Project Coord i nator &6!S Services

Nlrchar.l Nlarirr !.li. - CIi!i 1,re.!tn€ 01fi.!r
Caroltt4 Buk.\'ski, P li . Prl)j!Lt llngif4rl

Jill Stu.It - GIS Tc.hnri.D
l)honc:716-€27-8000

Hazen & Sawyer
Lcad & CoppcrRulc Consultant

Jd,n 5nllagri, P.D'lrol..tltlanagcr: Dan S.ider.lE.-Tlcnnral Sulfo.t
Ija, k l.!rz. P.n T..j ntrcl Advj so r, loscr At nold, l-E. - Ted' nral A{lyis! r

!l.torli Nlst oD. P [ '1rc]cct Enqnr.q, It.L,...a Ca&rin!-sl.r.. I'l - F!ndrng Supt)ort

l!ll :{edle Publr.coninuric!Lrons
Plr.rc 716 :i 1ar 5ll6

Chief Operalor of lhe Filt.atio

DcDnN l'lcNanraE
Plone: 716-{33-16.15

Director of High$,ays, larks a d
lvr ter D istribn tion

Cla)lon Di'nmick
(D r.i.cnscd Of!rrn,t
1,1'one:716 13!r'67i0

Chicf BuililiIA IdsIecto.

t'lone:716 ,39-675,1

2.2

Figure 3: Project Organizational Structure

Performance of Work

The Nussbaumer and Hazen team will support the City in obtaining bids for the construction
contracts for this project. The bidding phase is expected to be approximately two months in
duration, including a three-to four week period between publication of the Advertisement for Bids
and the bid opening. For the construction duration, the team will support the City with construction
progress meetings, Contractor submiftal review, and Change Order processing. Resident Project
Representative services will be provided for the duration of the project. Final documentation of
the lead service line replacements will be reflected in the City's inventory upon completion.

2.3 LSL Replacement Activities

2.3.1 Overview

Completing a LSL replacement project requires a significant amount of coordination
between the City, customer, and contractor performing the work. The goal is to achieve a
full LSL replacement to minimize lead exposure caused by disturbing the service line
during a partial LSLR. ln order to minimize the risks, the replacement of the entire service
line should be performed as close to the same time as possible, which requires a
coordinated approach to LSLR. The process to coordinate LSLRs with customers during
planned water main replacement projects is summarized in Figure 4.

lla:€n andgawyEr lNussbaumer& Clarke, lnc. 2-6



aI

Plalrrlns

:t

City of Lockport
Lead Service Line Replacement Engineering Report

Full LSLR Procees

l.{l.tl n eqd)dis wirh **s m3i. sph*tu.r.
or {r!g(!t*il ra{t6is'rsd

Od66i*inidiry ind €*r ftnlotrr*!: Gr^e!

ai')lili 
'r 

lnad {t h.n.ii r!i6. {, €(!q,..i dii{

t?tr':tr.r ty{ps&! :i.c.r.e i$ ,Rdod lr* .wb. in.}

ts{-a

nrsr€r, Vlrle' drr.r ,'!i .ril)loh $s. ri i&rnuf, l-51

CtLr to r.ti{.oe tn3 ,r;vr!{i LSL [d!sr.:
n6..e6 o| bdefrrr.^.1 ,isr.,

?lop*t! a6rl.s a{' 6.&t' afl{ir: rnndb{i ind

Oa'aido, llie ol [q,r.r\Lrx, r&i]?r.],.,ri $4!
r}3lu.!{sq dc{.uru{rirli@"

&,akling nll.nrU ps AwwA calq Pr.{nl€ pl?|,

ilsi: f oik!a{,p aq}{.nd**.

Figure 4: Summary of LSL Process and Coordination

Key steps shown in Figure 4 are further described as follows and detailed in the following
subsections:

1a. During project design, identify service connections affected and determine the construction or
installation year of associated buildings and water mains.

1b. Coordinate with the City to identiry the service request and water service account records for
information on prior service line work.

2a. Notify customers ofthe upcoming construction project and possible presence of LSLS at least
6 months in advance of the planned construction project.

2b. Obtain rightof-entry for an interior service line inspection at the meter (if visible within the
building/basement/crawlspace) or perform a test hole on private property at fixed distance from
the curb stop.

3a. ldentify public and private service line materials and update service line inventory.

3b. Notiry customers with LSLS or galvanized iron service line downstream of existing or former
LSL (which are defined as LSLS) at least 45 days prior to replacement, including notification
that LSLR may cause a temporary increase in lead levels.

4. lf the customer agrees to full LSLR, obtain right-of-entry for LSLR construction and establish a
LSLR agreement either through the City or directly with the City's contractor.

5. Perform replacements and record new service line materials in inventory.

Hazan aRd Sawyar I Nussbaumer & Clarke, lnc. 2-7



City of Lockport
Lead Service Line Replacement Engineering Report

2.3.1 Pre-ConstructionActivities

The A\NWA C810 standard describes that a replacement plan should be established for
each site to assess the schedule and the anticipated amount of time the customers will be
impacted. This information will be communicated to the customer in advance of service
line replacement.

Each site should be examined to select appropriate construction methods. Site features
and potential subsurface conflicts, such as existing utilities, irrigation systems, fence
posts, walls, or trees will be examined on the site prior to replacement. Existing utilities
should be located and marked prior to construction.

Prior to replacement, the service line must be isolated. lf service line replacement is
performed in conjunction with a water main replacement project, the water service will be
shutoff for the neighborhood for pipe replacement tie-in and the new service line can be
connected to the new water main prior to startup. For individual service line replacements,
the water must be shutoff at the corporation stop on the water main to isolate the service
line or be permanently isolated at the main if there will be a new tap on the main.

2.3.2 Service Line lnspections

The AWWA C810 Standard lists documentation steps to complete during a service line
replacement in order to form a comprehensive record of the activity. On the day of
replacement, it is important to document the following prior to beginning replacement:

. Take a photo ofthe home including the house number.

. Take photos of the test pits (if present) and curb box with existing service line and
connections.

o Measure the length and diameter of the exist:ng service line and note the materials.

o Make a record of the maierial of the new service line to be installed on both the
private and public side.

. Record the internal plumbing material that the service line connects to inside the
home.

. Record the method of construction to be used.

. Record the intended fate of the existing service line materials such as whether the
pipes were abandoned in place, how much was abandoned or removed, and
specific service line locations of where the old service line is.

This information will be utilized by the City to update its service line inventory and update
the system-wide estimate of the quantity of LSLs.

2.3.3 CustomerNotification

When planning a LSLR project, the owner/customer must be notified of the planned
construction work in advance to initiate the LSLR coordination process. lt is recommended
that customers be notified about the project at least six months in advance and again at
the required 45 days ofthe planned construction start date. The additional advance notice

Haz€n and Sawyer I Nussbaumer & Clarke, Inc.



City of Lockport
Lead Service Line Replacement Engineering Report

allows time for customer coordination including gaining private property access and
securing all required right-of-entry agreements.

2.3.4 Private Property Access

For each building with a potential LSL, a right-of-entry agreement will be needed to
perform any intrusive construction work associated with identification or replacement.
ldentification practices that do not require disturbance of land can be performed with
advance notification to the property owner and resident, if the property is occupied by
someone other than the homeowner. For buildings with a basement or accessible
crawlspace, the service line can be potentially identified by examining the pipe where it
enters the interior of the building. ln other cases, the service line will need to be identified
by performing a vacuum-excavated test hole on private property. The test hole location
should typically be approximately 5 to 10 feet from the curb box and can be adjusted in
coordination with the property owner to minimize site impacts.

2.3.5 Post LSLR Activities

The City will need to provide the following to the residents after each full or partial LSLR
or other LSL disturbance:

. Flushinginstructions

. A POU pitcher filter with six months of replacement cartridges and instructions for
use of the POU filter

o Guidelines for follow-up sampling to be performed between three and six months
after LSLR

These follow-up activities are detailed in the following subsections.

2.3.6 FlushingActivities

lmmediately following the completion of all connections after a service line replacement,
the utility should flush water from a straight pipe in place of the meter prior to the meter
being connected or an outside connection such as a hose bib at full velocity for a minimum
of 10 minutes. The flushing process, according to the A\AA|i/A C810 Standard, is
summarized as follows:

1. Findall faucets that will drainonall floors of the home including the basement.

2. Remove aerators and screens where possible, including shower heads, from all
taps to be flushed.

3. lnclude the laundry tubs, hose-bibs, bathtubs, and showers as flushing points.

4. After all aerators are removed, open the faucets all the way in the lowest floor in
the house; leave all faucets running at highest rate possible using cold water.

5. After all faucets are open on the lowest floor, open the faucets on the next highest
floorofthe house; repeat until allfaucets are open on allfloors. lnstructions should
caution residents to monitor drainage and ensure that overflowing of sinks or tubs
does not occur during flushing.

6. After all faucets are open, leave the water running for at least 30 minutes.

Hazsn and galvyor 
I Nussbaumer & Clarke, lnc. 2-9



City of Lockport
Lead Service Line Replacement Engineering Report

7. After 30 minutes, turn off the first faucet that was opened and then proceed to turn
off all faucets in the order in which they were turned on.

8. Clean the aerators or screens at each faucet to remove any particles; replace any
aerators that are too worn out or old to be used.

Routine flushing guidelines will be included in the resident flushing instructions
documents.

2.3.7 Point of Use Filters

Under the LCR Revisions the City will be required to provide point-of-use (POU) filters to
residents with six months of replacement cartridges instructions of use after full and partial
LSLR. Filters must be certified according to the National Sanitation Foundation (NSF)
Standard 53 for total lead removal and NSF Standard 42 fo( fine particulate removal.

2.3.8 Sampling

The LCR Revisions requires the water system to offer to collect a follow-up first-draw tap
sample between three and six months after the service line is replaced to monitor lead
levels in drinking water. Afterfull LSLR, potential sources of lead could include the internal
building plumbing materials (e.9. leaded solder or brass) or dislodged particulate lead
remaining from service line construction. Similar to LCR compliance sampling, first-draw
sampling can be performed by the residents, provided a sample bottle and sample
collection instructions from the City.
As required in the LCR Revisions, the City will notify the customer of the results within the
following timeframes:

. Lead Concentration above the Action Level - The customer must be notified within
3 days of receipt of lead and copper results by the City.

. Lead Concenhation below the Action Level - The customer must be notified within
30 days of receipt of lead and copper results by the City.

Ha"zafi artd Sarr4aer I Nussbaumer & Clarke, lnc. 2-10



City of Lockport
Lead Service Line Replacement Engineering Report

3. PROJECT BUDGET

The American Water Works Association funded a report titled Considerations when Costing Lead
Service Line ldentification and Replacemenf to inform the USEPA's development of the LCRI.
Table 2 provides an overview of the major categories necessary to complete LSLR based on
available industry data, cost trends and utility surveys. The average cost of $12,500 per LSL was
used in determining the total estimated project cost of $17,287,500.

Table 2: Project Cost Estimate (from Al/wlIA,20221

Total Project Cost

Notel Restoration costs are not added to the other LSLR component cost when determining the total LSLR cost, as
they are assumed to be included in the full replacement cost

Hazen and Eawltar I Nussbaumer & Clarke, lnc. 3-1 1



City of Lockport
Lead Service Line Replacement Engineering Report

4. PROJECTSCHEDULE

Table 3 provides an anticipated project schedule based on an assumed project funding award
dale of May 1,2025.

Table 3: Project Schedule

5t1t2025

City Agreement Start Date 6t1t2025

Design Phase 611DO25 - 12/31t2025

Bidding and Contractor Award 11112026 - 311t2026

Construction Phase 3t1t2026 - 11t',U2027

Projec{ Closeout and lnventory lJpdates 111112027 - 12t31DO27

llaz€$ andSawydr I Nussbaumer & Clarke, lnc. 4-12


	9.10.2025 minutes.pdf
	Meeting packet for 9.10.2025

